MSC INDUSTRIAL DIRECT CO INC Form DEF 14A December 04, 2009

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A (Rule 14a-101)

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant x
Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o
Check the appropriate box:

o Preliminary Proxy Statement

Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

x Definitive Proxy Statement

o Definitive Additional Materials o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

MSC INDUSTRIAL DIRECT CO., INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

x No fee required.
o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-

Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:

(3) Per unit price or other underlamount on which the filing for	lying value of transa ee is calculated and	ction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the state how it was determined):
(4)	Propos	ed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
	(5)	Total fee paid:
• •	ee is offset as provident aid previously. Ident of its filing.	paid previously with preliminary materials. ed by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for tify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Amount Previously Paid:
(2)	For	m, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	(3)	Filing Party:
	(4)	Date Filed:

75 Maxess Road Melville, New York 11747

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

To the shareholders of MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual meeting of shareholders of MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., a New York corporation, will be held on January 14, 2010 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at the Melville Marriott Long Island, 1350 Old Walt Whitman Road, Melville, New York 11747, for the following purposes:

- 1. to elect seven directors to serve for one-year terms;
- 2. to amend our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance thereunder by 3,200,000 shares of our Class A common stock;
- 3. to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010; and
- 4. to consider and act upon such other matters as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.
- Only shareholders of record at the close of business on November 30, 2009 are entitled to vote at the annual meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof.

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting. However, to assure your representation at the annual meeting, you are urged to complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible, and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. Any shareholder attending the annual meeting may vote in person even if he or she has already returned a proxy.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Steve Armstrong
Vice President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

Melville, New York December 4, 2009

IMPORTANT:

The prompt return of proxies will ensure that your shares will be voted. A self-addressed envelope is enclosed for your convenience. No postage is required if mailed within the United States.

IMPORTANT: 3

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS MEETING TO BE HELD ON JANUARY 14, 2010.

Our Proxy Statement and Annual Report are available online at: http://materials.proxyvote.com/553530

IMPORTANT: 4

75 Maxess Road Melville, New York 11747

PROXY STATEMENT FOR

Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 14, 2010

INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING

We are furnishing this proxy statement to you in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our Board of Directors, which we refer to as the Board, to be used at our 2010 annual meeting of shareholders, or at any adjournments or postponements thereof. This proxy statement describes the matters to be presented at the meeting and related information that will help you vote at the meeting. References in this proxy statement to the company, we, us, similar terms mean MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc.

The notice of annual meeting, this proxy statement and the proxy card were first mailed on or about December 14, 2009 to our shareholders of record as of November 30, 2009.

The mailing address of our principal executive office is 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747.

When and where is the annual meeting?

The annual meeting will be held at Melville Marriott Long Island, 1350 Old Walt Whitman Road, Melville, New York 11747, on January 14, 2010 at 9:00 a.m., local time.

What am I voting on?

You are voting on the following proposals:

to elect seven directors to serve for one-year terms; to amend our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance thereunder by

our

3,200,000 shares of our Class A common stock;

to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010; and

to consider and act upon such other matters as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

What are the voting recommendations of the Board of Directors?

Our Board recommends that you vote FOR each of the director nominees, FOR the amendment to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan and FOR ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010.

Who is entitled to vote?

Only shareholders of record of our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock at the close of business on November 30, 2009, the record date, are eligible to vote at the annual meeting. On that date, we had outstanding 44,824,912 shares of our Class A common stock and 18,325,474 shares of our Class B common stock.

What is a shareholder of record?

You are a shareholder of record if you are registered as a shareholder with our transfer agent, Computershare Shareholder Services.

What is a beneficial shareholder?

You are a beneficial shareholder if a brokerage firm, bank, trustee or other agent holds your shares in their name for your benefit. This form of ownership is often called ownership in street name, since your name does not appear in our records. If you are a beneficial shareholder, you may vote by following the voting instructions provided by your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee included with your proxy materials.

What is a broker non-vote?

If you hold shares beneficially in street name and do not provide your broker, bank or other agent with voting instructions, your shares could constitute broker non-votes. Generally, broker non-votes occur on a matter when a broker is not permitted to vote on that matter without instructions from the beneficial owner and the beneficial owner does not provide instructions.

If you are a beneficial owner whose shares are held in the name of a broker, and you do not provide your broker with voting instructions, the broker has the authority to vote your shares for or against certain routine matters. The proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010 is the only routine matter being considered at the 2010 annual meeting.

We encourage you to provide instructions to your broker or other nominee so that your shares may be voted. If you do not provide instructions to your broker or other nominee, your shares will not be voted in the director elections or on the proposal to amend our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan.

What is a quorum?

A quorum is the minimum number of shares required to hold a shareholders meeting. Under New York law and our By-Laws, the presence in person or by proxy of the holders of a majority of the total shares of our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock which are entitled to vote is necessary to constitute a quorum at the annual meeting.

How many votes are needed for the proposals to pass?

The election of directors requires the affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast in person or by proxy at the annual meeting. All other proposals require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on those proposals at the annual meeting. In addition, the proposal to amend our Omnibus Equity Plan will not pass unless the total votes cast on the proposal (including abstentions) represent at least a majority in interest of all shares entitled to vote on the matter. Abstentions will be counted as votes cast against the amendment to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan but will not affect the outcome of any other matter being voted on at the meeting, assuming that a quorum is obtained. Broker non-votes are not counted for any purpose in determining whether a matter has been approved, but, along with abstentions, are considered present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a quorum.

Who is entitled to vote?

On all matters to be voted upon at the annual meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the record holders of the Class A common stock and the Class B common stock vote together as a single class, with each holder of Class A common stock entitled to one vote per share of Class A common stock and each holder of Class B common stock entitled to ten votes per share of Class B common stock.

How do I vote?

If you are a shareholder of record, you may vote by signing, dating and mailing your proxy card. If you are a beneficial shareholder, you must follow the voting procedures provided by your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee included with your proxy materials.

If you are a record holder and you sign your proxy card without giving specific instructions, your shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of our Board (FOR all seven of our nominees to the Board, FOR the proposal to amend our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan and FOR ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010).

If your shares are held in the MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc. 401(k) Plan, the enclosed proxy will serve as a voting instruction card for the trustee of our 401(k) Plan, T. Rowe Price Trust Company, who will vote all shares of Class A common stock of the company allocated to your 401(k) account in accordance with your instructions. If the voting instruction card is returned without choices marked, and if not otherwise directed, the shares in your 401(k) account that are represented by the voting instruction card will *not* be voted.

What will happen if another matter properly comes before the annual meeting?

Our Board does not intend to bring any matter before the annual meeting except as specifically indicated in the foregoing notice, nor does our Board know of any matters that anyone else proposes to present for action at the annual meeting. However, if any other matters are properly presented at the meeting for a vote, the enclosed proxy confers discretionary authority to the individuals named as proxies to vote the shares represented by proxy, as to those matters.

If I plan to attend the annual meeting, should I still vote by proxy?

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting. However, to assure your representation at the annual meeting, you are urged to complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible, and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. Any shareholder attending the annual meeting may vote in person even if he or she has already returned a proxy card.

If you send in your proxy card and also attend the meeting, you do not need to vote again at the meeting unless you want to change your vote. Written ballots will be available at the meeting for shareholders of record. Beneficial shareholders who wish to vote in person must request a proxy from their broker or other nominee and bring that proxy to the annual meeting.

Who pays the cost for the solicitation of proxies?

We will pay any expenses for the solicitation of proxies for the annual meeting. Such solicitation may be made in person or by telephone by officers and employees of the company. Upon request, we will reimburse brokers, dealers, banks and trustees, or their nominees, for reasonable expenses incurred by them in forwarding material to the beneficial owners of shares of our Class A common stock.

How do I change my vote?

Shareholders of record may revoke their proxies by giving written notice of revocation to our Corporate Secretary before the annual meeting, by delivering later-dated proxies, or by voting in person at the meeting. Beneficial shareholders may change their vote by following the instructions of their broker, bank, trustee or other nominee.

3

How do I vote?

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag
	#
INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING	<u>1</u>
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (PROPOSAL No. 1)	1 5 7 7 7
<u>CORPORATE GOVERNANCE</u>	7
<u>Director Independence</u>	7
Committees and Meetings of the Board	
Corporate Governance Guidelines	<u>10</u>
Code of Ethics and Code of Business Conduct	<u>10</u>
Policy Regarding Shareholder Nominations for Director	<u>11</u>
Shareholder Communications Policy	<u>12</u>
<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>12</u>
Executive Officers	<u>12</u>
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	<u>14</u>
APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO OUR 2005 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN	15
(PROPOSAL No. 2)	<u>15</u>
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC	22
ACCOUNTING FIRM (PROPOSAL No. 3)	<u>22</u>
Principal Accountant Fees and Services	<u>22</u>
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy	<u>23</u>
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	<u>24</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT	<u>25</u>
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	<u>26</u>
Compensation Committee	<u>26</u>
How Compensation Decisions Are Made	<u>26</u>
Compensation Philosophy and Objectives	<u>27</u>
Compensation Consultants	<u>28</u>
Competitive Positioning	<u>29</u>
Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions	<u>31</u>
Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation	<u>31</u>
Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy	<u>35</u>
Federal Income Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation	<u>36</u>
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	<u>37</u>
Summary Compensation Table	37
Fiscal Year 2009 Grants of Plan-Based Awards	39
Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010	40
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year-End Table	41
Fiscal Year 2009 Option Exercises and Stock Vested	43
Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation	43
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control	43
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	<u>49</u>
Non-Employee Director Summary Compensation in Fiscal Year 2009	<u>50</u>
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS	51
Written Related Person Transactions Policy	<u></u> 51

TABLE OF CONTENTS 11

Related Person Transactions	<u>51</u>
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION	<u>53</u>
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	<u>54</u>
SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT ANNUAL MEETING	<u>59</u>
DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SHAREHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS	<u>59</u>
OTHER MATTERS	<u>59</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS 12

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (PROPOSAL No. 1)

Seven directors will be elected at our 2010 annual meeting of shareholders for a term of one year expiring at the 2011 annual meeting, and will serve until their respective successors shall have been elected, or until their earlier resignation or removal. Each of the nominees for director was previously elected a director of the company by our shareholders.

Each nominee has indicated that he or she is willing to serve as a member of our Board, if elected, and our Board has no reason to believe that any nominee may become unable or unwilling to serve. In the event that a nominee should become unavailable for election for any reason, the shares represented by a properly executed and returned proxy will be voted for any substitute nominee who shall be designated by the current Board. There are no arrangements or understandings between any director or nominee for director and any other person pursuant to which such person was selected as a director or nominee for director of the company.

Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the qualifications and independence of the nominees for director, and, with each member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee abstaining as to himself or herself, has recommended each of the other nominees for election to our Board.

Nominees for Director

Name of Nominee	Principal Occupation	Age	e Director Since
Charles Boehlke	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the company	53	January 2009
Roger Fradin	President and Chief Executive Officer of Automation and Control Solutions Division of Honeywell International Inc.	56	July 1998
Louise Goeser	President and Chief Executive Officer of Grupo Siemens S.A. de C.V.	56	January 2009
Denis Kelly	Managing Partner of Scura, Rise & Partners LLC	60	April 1996
Mitchell Jacobson	Chairman of the Board of the company	58	October 1995
Philip Peller	Business Consultant; Retired Partner of Arthur Andersen LLP	70	April 2000
David Sandler	President and Chief Executive Officer of the company	52	June 1999

Charles Boehlke has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since January 2003. Prior to being appointed as our Executive Vice President, Mr. Boehlke was appointed our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in June 2000. From April 1996 to April 2000, he was the Vice President of Finance for North American operations at Arrow Electronics, Inc. From January 1994 to April 1996, Mr. Boehlke served as the Chief Financial Officer of Black & Decker Mexico. He held several other finance positions of increasing responsibility at Black & Decker between 1980 and 1994. Mr. Boehlke previously served on our Board from January 2001 to December 2007, when he voluntarily resigned to ensure that our Board had a majority of independent directors.

Roger Fradin has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Automation and Control Solutions Division of Honeywell International Inc. since June 2002. Previously, from 2000 until June 2002, he was President of the Security and Fire Solutions Division of Honeywell International Inc. From 1987 until 2000, Mr. Fradin served as

the President of the ADEMCO Group.

Louise Goeser is President and Chief Executive Officer of Grupo Siemens S.A. de C.V. and is responsible for Siemens Mesoamérica. Previously, Ms. Goeser served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Ford of Mexico from January 2005 to November 2008. Prior to this position, she served as Vice President, Global Quality for Ford Motor Company, a position she had held since 1999. Prior to 1999, she served as Vice President for Quality at Whirlpool Corporation, and served in various leadership positions with Westinghouse Electric Corporation. Ms. Goeser is also a director and a member of the Compensation, Governance and Nominating Committee of PPL Corporation.

5

Nominees for Director 14

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Denis Kelly is a Managing Partner of Scura, Rise & Partners LLC, a private investment banking firm. From 1993 to 2000, he was a Managing Director of Prudential Securities Inc. Previously, he served as the President of Denbrook Capital Corporation, a merchant banking firm, from 1991 to 1993. From 1980 to 1991, Mr. Kelly held various positions at Merrill Lynch, including Managing Director of Mergers and Acquisitions and Managing Director of Merchant Banking. Mr. Kelly began his investment banking career at Lehman Brothers in 1974. Mr. Kelly is also a director and a member of the Audit Committee of Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc., a director of Plymouth Financial Company, Inc. and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Ashburn Hill Corporation.

Mitchell Jacobson was appointed our President and Chief Executive Officer in October 1995 and held both positions until November 2003. He continued as our Chief Executive Officer until November 2005. Mr. Jacobson was appointed our Chairman of the Board in January 1998. Previously, Mr. Jacobson was President and Chief Executive Officer of Sid Tool Co., Inc., our predecessor company and current wholly-owned and principal operating subsidiary, which we refer to as Sid Tool, from June 1982 to November 2005.

Philip Peller is an independent business consultant. He was a partner of Andersen Worldwide S.C. and Arthur Andersen LLP from 1970 until his retirement in 1999. He served as Managing Partner of Practice Protection and Partner Affairs for Andersen Worldwide S.C. from 1998 to 1999 and as Managing Partner of Practice Protection from 1996 to 1998. He also served as the Managing Director of Quality, Risk Management and Professional Competence for Arthur Andersen's global audit practice. Mr. Peller is a director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. Mr. Peller has served as our Lead Director since December 2007.

David Sandler was appointed our President and Chief Executive Officer in November 2005. Mr. Sandler was our President and Chief Operating Officer from November 2003 to November 2005. Previously, from November 2000 to November 2003, he served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. In June 1999, he was also appointed as a member of our Board. From May 1999 to November 2000, he was Executive Vice President of the company. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Sandler served as our Senior Vice President, Administration. From 1989 to 1998, he held various positions of increasing responsibility for several departments throughout the company, including Information Systems, Product Management, Purchasing, Corporate Development, Human Resources and Finance. In the spring of 1989, Mr. Sandler joined the company as a result of our acquisition of Dancorp Inc., a New England-based industrial supply distributor, where he was a founder and served as President and Chief Executive Officer.

In October 2009, Erik Gershwind was appointed as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Previously, Mr. Gershwind served as our Senior Vice President, Product Management and Marketing from December 2005 and as our Vice President of Product Management from April 2005. Mr. Gershwind is the nephew of Mr. Jacobson, the Chairman of our Board, and the son of Marjorie Gershwind, Mr. Jacobson's sister. There are no other family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the re-election of each of Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Boehlke, Fradin, Jacobson, Kelly, Peller and Sandler.

Proxies received in response to this solicitation will be so voted unless otherwise specified in the proxy.

6

Nominees for Director 15

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Director Independence

Pursuant to New York Stock Exchange listing standards, a majority of the members of our Board must be independent. The Board must determine that each independent director has no material relationship with the company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the company). The Board follows the criteria set forth in Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards to determine director independence. Our independence criteria are also set forth in Section I of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, a copy of which is available on the Corporate Governance webpage of our website at www.mscdirect.com. In addition to applying these guidelines, the Board will consider all relevant facts and circumstances in making an independence determination.

The Board undertakes a review of director independence on an annual basis, and as events arise which may affect director independence. Based upon this review, the Board determined that Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller are independent in accordance with Section 303A.02 of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards and Rule 10A-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, as well as under our Corporate Governance Guidelines.

In evaluating the independence of Ms. Goeser, the Board considered that Ms. Goeser is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Grupo Siemens S.A. de C.V., an affiliate of Siemens AG, and is responsible for Siemens Mesoamérica. Siemens AG is a customer and supplier of the company. In addition, the Board considered that Ms. Goeser is a director of PPL Corporation, which is also one of our customers. Sales to such companies and purchases from Siemens AG were made in the ordinary course of business and amounted to significantly less than 1% of the recipient company s gross revenues during its most recent fiscal year.

In evaluating the independence of Mr. Fradin, the Board considered that Mr. Fradin is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Automation and Control Solutions Division of Honeywell International Inc., which is a customer and supplier of the company. Sales to and purchases from Honeywell were made in the ordinary course of business and amounted to significantly less than 1% of the recipient company s gross revenues during its most recent fiscal year.

Committees and Meetings of the Board

Our Board held nine meetings during the last fiscal year. Each of the directors attended at least 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of our Board and of the committees of our Board on which he or she served.

We encourage attendance by the directors at our annual meeting of shareholders. All of our current directors attended the annual meeting held on January 7, 2009, either in person or by telephone.

The standing committees of our Board are the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The table below provides the current membership for each of these committees.

Name Audit Compensation Nominating and Committee Committee Corporate

Edgar Filing: MSC INDUSTRIAL DIRECT CO INC - Form DEF 14A

				Governance Committee	
	Charles Boehlke				
	Roger Fradin	X	X	X	
	Louise Goeser	X	X	X	
	Denis Kelly	X	X*	X^*	
	Mitchell Jacobson				
	Philip Peller	X*	X	X	
	David Sandler				
	*	Committe	e Chair		
7					

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller, each of whom the Board has determined to be independent under both the rules of the SEC and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and to meet the financial literacy requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Peller is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. In addition, the Board has determined that Mr. Peller qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, which we refer to as the SEC.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is:

to assist Board oversight of (i) the preparation and integrity of our financial statements; (ii) our compliance with our ethics policies and legal and regulatory requirements; (iii) our independent registered public accounting firm s qualifications, performance and independence; and (iv) the performance of our internal audit function; and to prepare an annual Audit Committee report to be included in our annual proxy statement.

The Audit Committee is directly responsible for appointing and terminating our independent registered public accounting firm and for recommending to our Board that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the SEC. See the section entitled *Audit Committee Report* beginning on page 24

of this proxy statement for additional information. The Audit Committee also undertakes an annual evaluation of its performance.

The Audit Committee has the responsibilities and functions mandated by Sections 303A.06 and 303A.07 of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards and Rule 10A-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, as set forth in the Audit Committee's current charter, a copy of which is available on the Corporate Governance page of our website at www.mscdirect.com, and a printed copy of which is available to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to: Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747. The Audit Committee has the authority to engage independent counsel and other advisors as it deems necessary to carry out its duties. We are obligated to provide appropriate funding for the Audit Committee for these purposes. The Audit Committee met six times during the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009.

We do not have a standing policy on the maximum number of audit committees of other publicly owned companies on which the members of our Audit Committee may serve. However, if a member of our Audit Committee simultaneously serves on the audit committee of more than two other publicly-owned companies, our Board must determine whether such simultaneous service would impair the ability of such member to effectively serve on our Audit Committee. Any such determination will be disclosed in our annual proxy statement.

Compensation Committee

Responsibilities and Meetings

Our Board has a standing Compensation Committee currently comprised of Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller, each of whom is an independent director. Mr. Kelly is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is responsible for:

reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer; evaluating our Chief Executive Officer s performance in light of those goals and objectives;

Audit Committee 18

determining and approving our Chief Executive Officer s compensation level based on their evaluation of his performance;

setting the compensation levels of all of our other executive officers, including with respect to incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans of the company;

setting or recommending to our Board the compensation of the non-employee directors; and

TABLE OF CONTENTS

preparing a Compensation Committee report on executive compensation to be included in our annual proxy statement. The Compensation Committee also administers our equity incentive plans and undertakes an annual evaluation of its performance.

The Compensation Committee has adopted a written charter, a copy of which is available on the Corporate Governance page of our website at *www.mscdirect.com*, and a printed copy of which is available to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to: Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747. The Compensation Committee met seven times during the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009.

Delegation of Authority

The Compensation Committee does not delegate its responsibilities to any other directors or members of management. Under our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, the Compensation Committee is permitted to delegate its authority under such plan. However, as a matter of policy, the Compensation Committee authorizes all grants of equity awards under the 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan.

Compensation Processes and Procedures

The Compensation Committee makes all compensation decisions for our executive officers. The views and recommendations of Mitchell Jacobson, our Chairman of the Board, and David Sandler, our President and Chief Executive Officer, are, and will continue to be, considered by the members of the Compensation Committee in its review of the performance and compensation of individual executives. Mr. Jacobson also provides input on Mr. Sandler s compensation. Our Senior Vice President of Human Resources, Ms. Eileen McGuire, assists the Chairman of the Compensation Committee in developing the agenda for committee meetings and works with the Compensation Committee in developing agenda materials for the committee s review, including coordinating and presenting management s proposals and recommendations to the Compensation Committee with respect to executive compensation and to our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee with respect to director compensation. Both Ms. McGuire and Mr. Sandler regularly attend Compensation Committee meetings, excluding portions of meetings where their own compensation is discussed. The Compensation Committee considers, but is not bound by, management s proposals and recommendations with respect to executive compensation.

The Compensation Committee has the authority to retain and terminate any third-party compensation consultant and to obtain advice and assistance from internal and external legal, accounting and other advisors. In connection with compensation decisions made by the Compensation Committee in October 2008, the committee relied on competitive market data and analysis prepared by Towers Perrin, a compensation consulting firm which also had been retained by the Committee in prior years. Beginning in fiscal year 2009, the Compensation Committee engaged Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc., a compensation consulting firm that we refer to herein as F.W. Cook, to assist the committee on compensation matters, market practices and our compensation strategies and goals. F.W. Cook provides research, market data and survey information and makes recommendations to the Compensation Committee regarding our executive compensation programs and our non-employee director compensation programs. F.W. Cook advises the Compensation Committee on the competitiveness of our compensation arrangements and provides input, analysis and recommendations for the compensation paid to our named executive officers, other executives and non-management directors. F.W. Cook provides data and analysis with respect to public companies having similar characteristics (including size, profitability, geography, business lines and growth rates) to those of the company. The Compensation Committee considers, but is not bound by, the consultant s proposals and recommendations with respect to executive compensation.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During our 2009 fiscal year, each of Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller served as members of our Compensation Committee. None of the members of the Compensation Committee were, during or prior to fiscal year 2009, an officer of the company or any of its subsidiaries or had any relationship with us other than serving as a director and as a *de minimis* shareholder. In addition, none of our directors has interlocking or other relationships with other boards, compensation committees or our executive officers that require disclosure under Item 407(e)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our Board has a standing Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee comprised of Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller, each of whom is an independent director. Mr. Kelly is the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for:

identifying individuals qualified to become members of our Board consistent with criteria approved by our Board; recommending to our Board nominees for membership on our Board;

developing and recommending to our Board corporate governance principles applicable to the company; reviewing and approving any related party transaction proposed to be entered into and if appropriate, ratifying any such transaction previously commenced and ongoing; and

overseeing the evaluation of our Board and our management.

Only those candidates nominated by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will be considered as nominees for our Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee undertakes an annual evaluation of its performance.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has adopted a written charter, a copy of which is available on the Corporate Governance page of our website at *www.mscdirect.com*, and a printed copy of which is available to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to: Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met five times in the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009.

Executive Sessions of the Independent Directors; Lead Director

The non-management directors, Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller, who are independent directors under the New York Stock Exchange listing standards, meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without members of management present. Mr. Peller, who has served as our Lead Director since 2007, serves as the presiding director at the executive sessions of the independent directors.

The Lead Director also has such other duties and responsibilities as determined by the Board from time to time. Those additional duties and responsibilities include:

making recommendations to the Board regarding the structure of Board meetings;
recommending matters for consideration by the Board;
determining appropriate materials to be provided to the directors;
serving as an independent point of contact for shareholders wishing to communicate with the Board;
assigning tasks to the appropriate Board committees with the approval of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee; and

acting as a liaison between management and the independent directors.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, which are available on the Corporate Governance page of our website at *www.mscdirect.com*. A printed copy is available to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to: Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747.

Code of Ethics and Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and senior financial officers and a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees. The Code of Ethics and the Code of Business Conduct are available on the Corporate Governance

page of our website at *www.mscdirect.com*, and printed copies are available to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to: Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747. We intend to disclose on our website, in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, amendments to, or waivers from, our Code of Ethics and our Code of Business Conduct.

Policy Regarding Shareholder Nominations for Director

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of our Board believes that the best director candidates will be those who have a number of qualifications, including independence, knowledge, judgment, integrity, character, leadership, skills, education, experience, financial literacy, standing in the community and an ability to foster a diversity of backgrounds and views and to complement our Board's existing strengths. There are no specific, minimum or absolute criteria for Board membership. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also believes that it is important for directors to have demonstrated an ethical and successful career. Such a career may include:

experience as a senior executive of a publicly traded corporation, a management consultant, an investment banker, a partner at a law firm or registered public accounting firm or a professor at an accredited law or business school; experience in the management or leadership of a substantial private business enterprise, educational, religious or not-for-profit organization; or

such other professional experience as the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee determines qualifies an individual for Board service.

At all times, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will make every effort to ensure that our Board and its committees include at least the required number of independent directors, as that term is defined by applicable standards promulgated by the New York Stock Exchange and the SEC. Backgrounds giving rise to actual or perceived conflicts of interest are undesirable. In addition, prior to nominating an existing director for re-election to our Board, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider and review such existing director's attendance and performance, independence, experience, skills and the contributions that the existing director brings to our Board.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may employ third-party search firms to identify director candidates if so desired. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will review and consider recommendations from a wide variety of contacts, including current executive officers, directors, community leaders and shareholders, as a source for potential director candidates.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider qualified director candidates recommended by shareholders in compliance with our procedures and subject to applicable inquiries; we did not receive any such recommendations this year. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee does not have different standards for evaluating nominees depending on whether they are proposed by our directors or by our shareholders. Any shareholder may recommend a nominee for director at least 120 calendar days prior to the one year anniversary of the date on which our proxy statement was released to shareholders in connection with the previous year s annual meeting, by writing to Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, NY 11747, and providing the following information:

the name, company shareholdings and contact information of the person making the nomination; the candidate s name, address and other contact information; any direct or indirect holdings of the company s securities by the nominee; any information required to be disclosed about directors under applicable securities laws and/or stock exchange requirements;

information regarding related party transactions with the company and/or the shareholder submitting the nomination; any actual or potential conflicts of interest; and 11

the nominee s biographical data, current public and private company affiliations, employment history and qualifications and status as independent under applicable securities laws and stock exchange requirements.

All of these communications will be reviewed by our Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary and forwarded to Mr. Kelly, the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, for further review and consideration in accordance with this policy. Any such shareholder recommendation should be accompanied by a written statement from the candidate of his or her consent to be named as a candidate and, if nominated and elected, to serve as a director.

Shareholder Communications Policy

Any shareholder or other interested party who desires to communicate with our Chairman of the Board, Lead Director or non-management members of our Board may do so by writing to: Board, c/o Philip Peller, Lead Director of the Board, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, NY 11747. Communications may be addressed to the Chairman of the Board, the Lead Director, an individual director, a Board committee, the non-management directors or the full Board.

Legal Proceedings

On November 15, 2007, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned *Plymouth County Retirement* Association v. Schroeder et. al., was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, on our behalf, against the company as nominal defendant, our Board and certain of our current and former directors and officers. The plaintiff derivatively claimed violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as breach of fiduciary duties, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment in connection with certain stock options granted from 1997 to 2001. The plaintiff sought unspecified damages, disgorgement of stock options and any proceeds received from the exercise of misdated stock options, an accounting of stock option grants and costs, including attorneys' fees and expenses. On February 1, 2008, we and the individually named defendants filed motions to dismiss the litigation. By memorandum and order dated September 5, 2008, the court granted in part and denied in part those motions. On December 22, 2008, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint, with allegations substantially similar as to those contained in the initial complaint. On or about January 26, 2009, we and the individually named defendants filed an answer to the amended complaint. On July 7, 2009, we entered into a Stipulation of Settlement setting forth the terms and conditions of a proposed settlement between the parties in the litigation. On November 2, 2009, the court entered a final order approving the settlement on the terms agreed to in the stipulation. The settlement provides for the company to pay \$0.8 million to plaintiff s counsel for their attorneys fees and the reimbursement of their expenses, which amount our insurer has paid in full. Upon approval of the settlement, the litigation was dismissed with prejudice against all defendants.

Executive Officers

The following individuals are the executive officers of the Company as of December 4, 2009:

Name of Officer	Position	Age	Executive Officer Since
Mitchell Jacobson	Chairman of the Board	58	October 1995
David Sandler	President and Chief Executive Officer	52	January 1998

Charles Boehlke	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	53	June 2000
Steve Armstrong	Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary	51	October 2008
Charles Bonomo	Vice President and Chief Information Officer	44	July 2007
Shelley Boxer	Vice President, Finance and Accounting	62	October 1995
Thomas Cox	Executive Vice President, Sales	48	June 2000
Erik Gershwind	Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer	38	December 2005
Douglas Jones	Executive Vice President, Global Supply Chain Operations	45	December 2005
Eileen McGuire	Senior Vice President, Human Resources	44	December 2005

See the section entitled *Election of Directors (Proposal No. 1)* beginning on page 5 of this proxy statement for the biographical data for Messrs. Jacobson, Sandler and Boehlke.

12

Executive Officers 27

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Steve Armstrong was appointed our Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in October 2008. From 2006 to 2008, he was a legal consultant based in New York, New York performing services for Thomson Reuters and NBC Universal. Mr. Armstrong was the Executive Vice President and General Counsel of the Home Shopping Network in Tampa, Florida from 2002 to 2006. From 2000 to 2002, he was the Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Agilera, Inc., a technology company in Denver, Colorado. Prior to 2000, Mr. Armstrong was the Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary of Samsonite Corporation and a partner in the law firms, Paul Hastings and Baker and Hostetler.

Charles Bonomo was appointed our Vice President and Chief Information Officer in July of 2007. From 1999 through 2007, he served as Vice President at Arrow Electronics, Inc., including in the position of Vice President of Infrastructure and Operations from January 2006 to July 2007, and as Vice President and Chief Architect from July 2003 through January 2006. Previously, he was the Director of Clinical Technology at Mount Sinai Medical Center from 1996 to 1998, rising to Vice President and Chief Information Officer of NYU Health System in 1998. Prior to 1996, he held various positions of increasing responsibility at J.P. Morgan in the United States and Europe and at Grumman Aerospace Corp., where he designed and tested software for the F14 Tomcat aircraft.

Shelley Boxer was appointed our Vice President, Finance and Accounting in 2000. Previously, Mr. Boxer was our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1995 until June 2000. From June 1993 to October 1995, he served as Chief Financial Officer of Sid Tool. From 1992 to 1993, Mr. Boxer was the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Joyce International, Inc., a distribution and manufacturing company. From 1987 to 1992, he was the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Kinney Systems, an automobile parking facility and real estate company.

Thomas Cox was appointed our Executive Vice President, Sales in December 2005. Previously, he served as our Senior Vice President from April 2000 to November 2005 and as our Vice President of the North Region from October 1999 to March 2000. Mr. Cox joined the company in September 1997 as a Director in the sales organization. Prior to joining the company, he spent ten years, beginning in 1985, in the United States and Europe with TNT Express Worldwide, an international transportation company. Mr. Cox was responsible for Worldwide Sales and Marketing based in Europe for several years, and he also held the position of President of the Americas. After leaving TNT Express Worldwide, he served as President of his own transportation business, MailNet, with offices in the United States and overseas.

Erik Gershwind was appointed our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in October 2009. Previously, Mr. Gershwind was our Senior Vice President, Product Management and Marketing from December 2005 and our Vice President of Product Management from April 2005. From August 2004 to April 2005, Mr. Gershwind served as Vice President of MRO and Inventory Management. Mr. Gershwind has held various positions of increasing responsibility in product, E-Commerce and marketing. Mr. Gershwind joined the company in 1996 as manager of our acquisition integration initiative. He is the nephew of Mitchell Jacobson, our Chairman of the Board, and the son of Marjorie Gershwind, Mr. Jacobson's sister.

Douglas Jones was appointed our Executive Vice President, Global Supply Chain Operations in October 2009. Previously, he was our Senior Vice President, Supply Chain Management from April 2008 and our Senior Vice President of Logistics from December 2005. Mr. Jones joined the company in July 2001, as Vice President of Fulfillment. Prior to joining the company, he served as Vice President, Distribution Operations for the Central Region of the United States, at Fisher Scientific from 1998 to 2001. Prior to his role at Fisher Scientific, Mr. Jones was part of the Management Team at McMaster-Carr Supply Company, based in Chicago. During his ten-plus-year tenure with McMaster-Carr, Mr. Jones held various managerial positions of increasing responsibility in Fulfillment, Finance, Purchasing and Inventory Management.

Executive Officers 28

Eileen McGuire was appointed our Senior Vice President, Human Resources in December 2005. Previously, in June 1999, she was promoted to Vice President of Human Resources and, in May 1996, was appointed director of Human Resources. Ms. McGuire joined our predecessor company, Sid Tool, in 1983, and during her tenure, she has had many cross-functional roles throughout the company, including in Distribution, Operational Accounting, Inside Sales, Field and Branch Operations, Call Center Management and Corporate Training.

13

Executive Officers 29

There are no arrangements or understandings between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which the executive officer was, or is to be, selected as an officer of the company.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors and persons who own beneficially more than 10% of our Class A common stock to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC. Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms furnished to us and written representations from our executive officers, directors and such beneficial owners, we believe that all filing requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act were timely complied with during the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009, except for the following late filing, which resulted from a delayed communication by a broker: a Form 4 for Mr. Douglas Jones was filed on July 27, 2009, reporting the sale of 1,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock on July 17, 2009.

APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO OUR 2005 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN (PROPOSAL No. 2)

Our Board has adopted, subject to shareholder approval, an amendment to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, which we refer to below as the Omnibus Plan. We are asking our shareholders to approve this amendment to increase the Omnibus Plan share reserve by 3,200,000 shares of our Class A common stock to an aggregate of 6,200,000 shares of our Class A common stock.

The following summary of certain features of the Omnibus Plan is not a complete description of all of the provisions of the Omnibus Plan and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Omnibus Plan as proposed to be amended, which we have filed electronically and is available on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. Such text is not included in the printed version of this proxy statement.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on this proposal is required to approve the amendment to our Omnibus Plan. In addition, this proposal will not pass unless the total votes cast on the proposal (including abstentions) represent at least a majority in interest of all shares entitled to vote on the matter. If you are a beneficial shareholder, your bank, broker or other agent may not vote your shares on this proposal absent instructions from you. Without your instructions, your shares will be not be voted on this matter and will not be counted in determining whether the requisite number of shares have been voted on this proposal. Abstentions will count in determining whether the requisite number of shares have been voted, and will be counted as votes cast *against* the proposal.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the proposal to amend our Omnibus Plan.

Proxies received in response to this solicitation will be voted FOR the proposal to amend our Omnibus Plan unless otherwise specified in the proxy.

Reasons for Amendment

Our Board believes that it is in the best interest of the company and its shareholders to maintain the availability of long term equity based incentive compensation awards. However, as of November 30, 2009, there were only approximately 302,000 shares of our Class A common stock available for issuance pursuant to additional options, restricted stock awards and other equity awards under the Omnibus Plan. If Proposal No. 2 is passed, approximately 3,502,000 shares of our Class A common stock will be available for future issuance pursuant to such equity awards under the Omnibus Plan, in addition to any shares that are subject to outstanding awards under the Omnibus Plan that cease to be subject to such awards for any reason other than the exercise or vesting of such awards. Unless our shareholders approve this increase in the share reserve, we will be limited in our ability use stock options, restricted stock awards and other equity awards as incentives to attract, retain and motivate our directors and employees.

Purpose of the Omnibus Plan

The purpose of the Omnibus Plan is to attract and retain qualified directors and employees, motivate such individuals to achieve long-term company goals, and further align their interests with those of the company s other shareholders.

History

On November 23, 2005, the Board adopted the Omnibus Plan and at the 2006 annual meeting, our shareholders approved our Board's adoption of the Omnibus Plan, with an initial share reserve of 3,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock. The Omnibus Plan replaced our 1995, 1998, and 2001 Stock Option Plans, and our 1995 Restricted Stock Plan, and no further awards may be granted under such prior equity plans.

Administration

The Omnibus Plan is currently administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board, which we refer to in this section as the Administrator. The Administrator has complete discretion, subject to the terms of the Omnibus Plan, to authorize grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights and stock awards under the Omnibus Plan. The Administrator also has the authority to:

15

History 32

adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices governing the Omnibus Plan as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable;

to interpret the terms and provisions of the Omnibus Plan and any award issued under the Omnibus Plan (and any agreement relating thereto); and

to otherwise supervise the administration of the Omnibus Plan.

Eligibility and Extent of Participation

The following individuals are eligible to receive awards under the Omnibus Plan: (i) our officers, associates and directors; (ii) employees of our subsidiaries and affiliates; (iii) consultants and advisors providing services to us or our subsidiaries or affiliates; and (iv) employees of any corporation or other business enterprise acquired by us, who hold options with respect to the stock of such enterprise that we have agreed to assume.

Participation in the Omnibus Plan is limited to such persons as are selected by the Administrator. The provisions of awards need not be the same with respect to each participant. Subject to adjustment as provided in the Omnibus Plan, the maximum number of shares that may be covered by stock options, stock appreciation rights and stock awards, in the aggregate, granted to any one plan participant during any calendar year is 400,000 shares.

As of December 4, 2009, ten executive officers, four non-employee directors and approximately 505 associates and consultants were eligible to participate in the Omnibus Plan.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to plan participants, subject to such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and limitations, if any, as shall be determined by the Administrator. The grant of a stock option shall occur as of the date the Administrator determines, subject to FASB Statement 123(R) and guidance thereunder. The exercise price per share of stock purchasable under a stock option shall be determined by the Administrator at the time of grant; provided, that the exercise price per share shall not be less than fair market value on the date of grant (or 110% of fair market value in the case of an incentive stock option granted to an individual who is a 10% holder). The Administrator shall have the authority to grant stock options to any eligible individual and to fix the term of each stock option at the time of grant.

Exercise of Options

Each stock option granted under the Omnibus Plan is generally exercisable as determined by the Administrator. The Administrator may at any time waive the installment exercise provisions in any stock option or accelerate the exercisability of any stock option, in whole or in part, based on such factors as the Administrator may determine. No stock option, however, may fully vest or become fully exercisable prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such stock option, or, in the case of stock options granted to non-employee directors of the company, the second anniversary of the date of grant of such stock option. The term of each stock option shall be fixed by the Administrator at the time of grant, but no incentive stock option shall be exercisable more than 10 years (or five years in the case of an individual who is a 10% holder) after the date the incentive stock option is granted.

Stock options may be exercised, in whole or in part, by giving written notice of exercise to the company. The option price of any stock option shall be paid in full in cash (by certified or bank check or such other instrument as we may accept) or, unless otherwise provided in the applicable option agreement, by one or more of the following methods:

(i)

Administration 33

in the form of mature shares of unrestricted stock already owned by the optionee, based on the fair market value of the stock on the date the stock option is exercised;

- by certifying ownership of shares of mature stock owned by the optionee to the satisfaction of the Administrator for later delivery to the company, as specified by the company;
- (iii) unless otherwise prohibited by law, by irrevocably authorizing a third party to sell some or all shares 16

Exercise of Options 34

TABLE OF CONTENTS

of stock acquired upon exercise of the stock option and remit to the company a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the entire exercise price and any tax withholding resulting from such exercise; or

by any combination of cash and/or any one or more of the methods specified in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above, (iv) provided that the form of payment would not cause us to recognize a compensation expense (or additional compensation expense) with respect to the stock option for financial reporting purposes.

Transferability

In general, options granted under the Omnibus Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Non-qualified stock options may also be transferred to family members by gift.

Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock appreciation rights may be granted to plan participants, subject to such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, limitations and contingencies as the Administrator shall determine. Upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right, a plan participant shall be entitled to receive an amount in shares of our Class A common stock, which in the aggregate are equal in value to the excess of the fair market value of one share of stock on the date of exercise over the fair market value of one share of stock on the date of grant, multiplied by the number of shares in respect of which the stock appreciation right shall have been exercised.

The grant of a stock appreciation right shall occur as of the date the Administrator determines, subject to FASB Statement 123(R) and guidance thereunder. Stock appreciation rights may be granted under the Omnibus Plan on a stand-alone basis only. The Administrator shall have the authority to grant stock appreciation rights to any plan participant and except as otherwise provided in the Omnibus Plan, determine when a stock appreciation right shall terminate and no longer be exercisable. The term of each stock appreciation right shall be fixed by the Administrator at the time of grant.

Exercise of Stock Appreciation Rights

In general, stock appreciation rights may be exercised, in whole or in part, at such time or times during the exercisability as determined by the Administrator by giving written notice of exercise to the company specifying the number of shares with respect to which the stock appreciation right is being exercised.

The Administrator may at anytime, in whole or in part, accelerate the exercisability of any stock appreciation right. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no stock appreciation right shall be fully vested or exercisable prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such stock appreciation eight, except for stock appreciation rights granted to non-employee directors of the company, which may be fully vested or exercisable by the second anniversary of the date of grant of such stock appreciation right.

Transferability

In general, stock appreciation rights granted under the Omnibus Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Stock appreciation rights may also be transferred to family members by gift.

Transferability 35

Stock Awards

A stock award that is subject to restrictions on transfer and/or forfeiture provisions may be referred to as an award of restricted stock or restricted stock units. Stock awards may be directly issued under the Omnibus Plan (without any intervening options), subject to such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and limitations as the Administrator shall determine. Subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Plan, stock awards may be issued which vest in one or more installments over the participant's period of service to the company and/or upon the attainment of specified performance objectives. A stock award, however, may not fully vest with respect to all shares subject to such award prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such award, or the second anniversary of the date of grant in the case of a stock award granted to a non-employee director of the company.

17

Stock Awards 36

A stock award may be issued in exchange for any consideration which the Administrator may deem appropriate in each individual instance, including, without limitation, cash or cash equivalents; past services rendered to the company or any affiliate; or future services to be rendered to the company or any affiliate.

Performance Awards

The right of a plan participant to exercise or receive a grant or settlement of any award under the Omnibus Plan, and its timing, may be subject to performance conditions specified by the Administrator at the time of grant. The Administrator may use business criteria and other measures of performance it deems appropriate in establishing any performance conditions, and may exercise its discretion to reduce or increase amounts payable under any award subject to performance conditions, except as limited under the Omnibus Plan in the case of a performance award intended to qualify under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code.

Achievement of performance goals in respect of such performance awards intended to qualify under Section 162(m) of the Code shall be measured over such periods of at least 12 months—duration as may be specified by the Administrator. Performance goals for such awards shall be established on or before the dates that are required or permitted for—performance-based compensation—under Section 162(m) of the Code. Such performance goals shall be objective and shall otherwise meet the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code, including the requirement that the level or levels of performance targeted by the Administrator result in the performance goals being—substantially—uncertain.

Settlement of Performance Awards

Settlement of Performance Awards may be in cash or stock, or other awards, or other property, in the discretion of the Administrator. The Administrator may, in its discretion, reduce the amount of a settlement otherwise to be made in connection with such performance awards, but may not exercise discretion to increase any such amount payable in respect of a performance award intended to qualify under Section 162(m) of the Code.

Valuation

The fair market value of our Class A Common Stock on any relevant date under our Omnibus Plan is the closing sale price of a share of our Class A Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange. As of November 30, 2009, the closing price of our Class A Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange was \$45.90.

Adjustments

In the event of any company stock dividend, special cash dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the company, corporate separation or division of the company, sale by the company of all or a substantial portion of its assets, reorganization, rights offering, partial or complete liquidation, merger or consolidation in which the company is the surviving corporation, or any other corporate transaction, company share offering or other event involving the company and having an effect similar to any of the foregoing, the plan administrator may make such substitution or adjustments in:

the number and kind of shares that may be delivered under the Omnibus Plan;

Performance Awards 37

the maximum number of shares that may be covered by awards granted to any one plan participant during any calendar year;

the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding awards;

the exercise price of outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights; and other characteristics or terms of the awards as it may determine appropriate in its sole discretion to equitably reflect such corporate transaction, share offering or other event;

provided, however, that the number of shares subject to any award shall always be a whole number.

No adjustment shall be made in any of the foregoing circumstances to the extent that such adjustment would violate Section 409A of the Code.

18

Adjustments 38

Change in Control

In the event of a change in ownership or control of the company, (i) the vesting and exercisability of any stock options and stock appreciation rights outstanding as of the date such change in ownership or control is determined to have occurred and not then vested and exercisable shall become fully vested and exercisable; (ii) any restrictions applicable to any outstanding stock awards shall lapse and the stock relating to such awards shall become free of all restrictions and fully vested and transferable; and (iii) all outstanding repurchase rights of the company with respect to any outstanding awards may, in the discretion of the Administrator, terminate; provided, however, that outstanding awards shall be subject to any agreement of merger or reorganization that effects such change in ownership or control, if such agreement provides for:

the continuation of the outstanding awards by the company, if the company is a surviving corporation; the assumption of the outstanding awards by the surviving corporation or its parent or subsidiary; the substitution by the surviving corporation or its parent or subsidiary of equivalent awards for the outstanding awards; or

subject to Section 409A of the Code, settlement of each share of stock subject to an outstanding award for a change in control price determined in accordance with the terms of the Omnibus Plan, or, if the per share exercise price equals or exceeds the change in control price, the outstanding award shall terminate and be canceled.

In the absence of any agreement of merger or reorganization which addresses the effects of such change in control and subject to Section 409A of the Code, each share of stock subject to an outstanding award shall be settled for a change in control price determined in accordance with the terms of the Omnibus Plan, or, if the per share exercise price equals or exceeds the change in control price, the outstanding award shall terminate and be canceled. A change in control of the company will be deemed to have occurred for purposes of the Omnibus Plan in the same circumstances as under the employment agreements for our named executive officers, which are described below in the section entitled

Executive Compensation Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control Employment and Change in Control Agreements.

In the event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, except as otherwise provided in the discretion of the Administrator, each stock option shall terminate.

The acceleration of vesting of awards in the event of a change in ownership or control of the company may be viewed as an anti-takeover provision and may have the effect of discouraging a merger proposal, a takeover attempt or other efforts to gain control of the company.

Duration and Modification

The Omnibus Plan will terminate on January 3, 2016 or such earlier time as our Board may determine. The Board may at any time terminate, amend, alter, or discontinue the Omnibus Plan; provided, however, that no amendment, alteration or discontinuation shall be made which would adversely affect the rights of a plan participant under an award theretofore granted without the participant's consent, except such an amendment that is:

- (i) made to avoid an expense charge to the company or its affiliate under applicable law or regulation;
 - (ii) made to permit the company or affiliate a deduction under the Code; or
 - (iii) made to avoid the violation of Section 409A of the Code.

The Omnibus Plan cannot be amended or altered without the approval of our shareholders to the extent such approval is required by law, agreement or the rules of any stock exchange or market on which the stock of the company is listed. The Administrator may amend the terms of any stock option or other award theretofore granted, prospectively

Change in Control 39

or retroactively, but, except as provided in the Omnibus Plan, no such amendment shall adversely affect the rights of a plan participant without the participant s consent.

19

Duration and Modification 40

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a general summary as of the date of this proxy statement of the United States federal income tax consequences to the company and the directors, officers and employees participating in the Omnibus Plan. Federal tax laws may change and the federal, state and local tax consequences for any participating employee will depend upon his or her individual circumstances. Each participating employee has been and is encouraged to seek the advice of a qualified tax adviser regarding the tax consequences of participation in the Omnibus Plan. The following discussion does not purport to describe state or local income tax consequences in the United States, nor tax consequences for participants who are subject to tax in other countries.

Options granted under the Omnibus Plan may be either incentive stock options which satisfy the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code or non-qualified options which do not meet such requirements. The United States federal income tax treatment for the two types of options differs as follows:

Incentive Stock Options. No taxable income is recognized by the optionee at the time of the option grant, and no taxable income is generally recognized at the time the option is exercised unless the optionee is subject to the alternative minimum tax or the optionee exercises the option more than three months after the termination of his or her employment with us. The optionee will, however, recognize taxable income in the year in which the acquired shares are sold or otherwise disposed of. For United States federal income tax purposes, dispositions are either qualifying or disqualifying dispositions. A qualifying disposition occurs if the sale or other disposition is made after the optionee has held the shares for more than two years after the option grant date and more than one year after the date on which the shares are transferred to the optionee pursuant to the option s exercise. If either of these two holding periods is not satisfied, then a disqualifying disposition results. Upon a qualifying disposition, any gain or loss, generally measured by the difference between the amount realized on the sale of shares and the option exercise price, will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss. Upon a disqualifying disposition, the optionee generally recognizes ordinary income in the amount of the lesser of (i) the difference between the fair market value of the shares at the time of the option s exercise and the option s exercise price, or (ii) the difference between the amount realized on the sale and the option s exercise price. Any ordinary income recognized is added to the optionee s basis for purposes of determining any additional gain on the sale; any such additional gain will be capital gain.

If the optionee makes a disqualifying disposition of the acquired shares, we may be entitled to a deduction from our U.S. taxable income for the taxable year in which such disposition occurs, equal to the amount of ordinary income the employee recognizes. In no other instance will we be allowed a deduction with respect to the optionee s disposition of the acquired shares.

Non-Qualified Options. Taxable income generally is not recognized by an optionee upon the grant of a non-qualified option. The optionee will, in general, recognize ordinary income in the year in which the option is exercised, equal to the excess of the fair market value of the acquired shares on the exercise date over the exercise price paid for the shares, and we will be entitled to a deduction with respect to such income. Any gain or loss on a subsequent disposition or sale of such shares generally will be taxable as a capital gain or loss.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The grant of a stock appreciation right will generally not create any tax consequences for the participant or the company. Upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right, the participant will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the common stock received from the exercise. The participant's tax basis in the shares of common stock received in the exercise of the stock appreciation right will be equal to the ordinary income recognized with respect to the common stock. Upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right, the company generally will be entitled to a deduction in the amount of the compensation income recognized by the

participant.

Restricted Stock. The recipient of unvested shares will not recognize any taxable income at the time those shares are issued but will have to report as ordinary income, as and when those shares subsequently vest, an amount equal to the excess of (i) the fair market value of the shares on the vesting date over (ii) the consideration (if any) paid for the shares. The recipient may, however, elect under Section 83(b) of the Code to include as ordinary income in the year the unvested shares are issued an amount equal to the excess of (i) the fair market value of those shares on the issue date over (ii) the consideration (if any) paid for such

shares. If the Section 83(b) election is made, the recipient will not recognize any additional income as and when the shares subsequently vest, and any gain or loss on a subsequent disposition or sale of such shares generally will be taxable as a capital gain or loss. We will be entitled to an income tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the recipient with respect to the unvested shares. The deduction will in general be allowed for our taxable year in which such ordinary income is recognized by the recipient.

Other Awards. Other awards under the Omnibus Plan, including performance awards, generally will result in ordinary income to the participant at the later of the time of delivery of cash, shares or other property, or, in the case of previously delivered shares or other property and in absence of an appropriate Section 83(b) election, the time that either the risk of forfeiture or restriction on transferability lapses. We generally would be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the amount recognized as ordinary income by the participant in connection an award.

Tax Withholding. Whenever an employee recognizes income in connection with an award under the Omnibus Plan, we will generally have a withholding obligation with respect to the amount the employee recognizes as ordinary income, and the participant will be required to make arrangements satisfactory to the company regarding the payment of any amounts required to be withheld.

Section 162(m). Any United States income tax deductions that would otherwise be available to us may be subject to a number of restrictions under the Code, including Section 162(m), which, under recent guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service, can limit the deduction for compensation paid to our Chief Executive Officer and our other three most highly compensated executive officers (other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer).

New Plan Benefits Under the Omnibus Plan

The number of shares to be issued under the Omnibus Plan to participants in the plan, including eligible employees, executive officers and non-employee directors of the company, and the net values to be realized upon such issuances, are discretionary, and therefore, not determinable.

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (PROPOSAL No. 3)

Our Audit Committee has appointed the firm of Ernst & Young LLP to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010. Although shareholder ratification of the Audit Committee s action in this respect is not required, our Board considers it desirable for shareholders to pass upon the selection of the independent registered public accounting firm. If the shareholders disapprove of the selection, our Audit Committee intends to reconsider the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm.

Ernst & Young LLP has advised us that neither it nor any of its members has any direct or material indirect financial interest in the company. We expect that a representative from Ernst & Young LLP will be present at the annual meeting. This representative will have the opportunity to make a statement if he or she so desires and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

For the fiscal years ended August 29, 2009 and August 30, 2008, Ernst & Young LLP billed us the following fees for their services. All audit and permissible non-audit services reflected in the fees below were pre-approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with established procedures.

	Fiscal Year	
	2009	2008
Audit fees ⁽¹⁾	\$ 723,600	\$ 782,776
Audit-related fees ⁽²⁾	\$ 64,607	\$ 42,103
Tax fees ⁽³⁾	\$ 163,640	\$ 15,410
All other fees ⁽⁴⁾	\$ 2,167	
Total	\$ 954,014	\$ 840,289

Reflects audit fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP for the audit of our annual financial statements, audit of management's assessment of internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of

- (1) internal control over financial reporting and related opinions, review of financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that were provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
 - Reflects audit-related fees for assurance and related services by Ernst & Young LLP that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements. The nature of the services performed for these
- (2) fees was advice on compliance with financial accounting and reporting standards, the audit of the employee benefit plan, other advice and services provided in connection with our equity compensation plans and consultations on compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 - Reflects tax fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP for tax compliance, tax advice and tax
- (3) planning. The nature of the services performed for these fees was for assistance in UK and United States federal and state tax compliance, state and local tax consultation and tax planning related to capital gains.

Consist of fees for professional services rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm for (4) permissible non-audit services. In fiscal 2009, these fees primarily related to Internet-based services provided by Ernst & Young LLP.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm and shall not engage the independent registered public accounting firm to perform any non-audit services proscribed by law or regulation. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, in which case decisions taken are to be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next meeting.

The Audit Committee of the Board has considered whether, and has determined that, the provision of non-audit services by Ernst & Young LLP is compatible with maintaining auditor independence.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010.

Proxies received by the Board will be so voted unless a contrary choice is specified in the proxy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The information contained under this Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities Act, or under the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference into any such filing.

The Audit Committee oversees the company s financial accounting and reporting processes and systems of internal controls on behalf of our Board. Management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process, including the systems of internal controls. The Audit Committee also evaluates the performance and independence of our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, a copy of which is available on the Corporate Governance page of our website at www.mscdirect.com. Under the written charter, the Audit Committee must consist of at least three directors, all of whom must be independent as defined by the Exchange Act and the rules of the SEC and the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards. The current members of the committee are Ms. Goeser and Messrs. Fradin, Kelly and Peller, each of whom is an independent director.

Our financial and senior management supervise our systems of internal controls and the financial reporting process. Our independent registered public accounting firm performs an independent audit of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and expresses opinions on these consolidated financial statements. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm expresses its own opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee monitors these processes.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with both the management of the company and our independent registered public accounting firm our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009, as well as management s assessment and our independent registered public accounting firm s evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. Our management represented to the Audit Committee that our audited consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Audit Committee discussed with our internal auditors and independent registered public accounting firm the overall scope and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee met with the internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their audits, their evaluations of our internal controls, including internal control over financial reporting, and the overall quality of our financial reporting.

The Audit Committee also discussed with our independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees), as may be modified or supplemented. The Audit Committee has also received the written disclosures and the letter from our independent registered public accounting firm required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the independence

of that firm. The Audit Committee has also considered whether the provision of non-audit services by our independent registered public accounting firm is compatible with maintaining the independence of the auditors. The Audit Committee s policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. All audit and permissible non-audit services performed by our independent registered public accounting firm during fiscal year 2009 and fiscal year 2008 were pre-approved by the Audit

Committee in accordance with established procedures.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board (and our Board approved) that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009, which was filed with the SEC on October 22, 2009.

Submitted by the Audit Committee of the Board,

Philip Peller (Chairman) Louise Goeser Roger Fradin Denis Kelly

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The information contained under this Compensation Committee Report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act, or under the Exchange Act, or be subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference into any such filing.

The Compensation Committee of our Board has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis that follows. Based on this review and discussion, the Committee recommended to our Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the Board,

Denis Kelly (Chairman) Roger Fradin Louise Goeser Philip Peller

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In this section, we discuss the material elements of our compensation programs and policies, including the objectives of our compensation programs and the reasons why we pay each element of our executives—compensation. Following this discussion, you will find a series of tables containing more specific details about the compensation earned by or awarded to the following individuals, whom we refer to as the named executive officers or NEOs. This discussion focuses on compensation and practices relating to the named executive officers for our 2009 fiscal year:

Name Position

David Sandler President and Chief Executive Officer

Charles Boehlke Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Mitchell Jacobson Chairman of the Board

Thomas Cox Executive Vice President, Sales

Douglas Jones Executive Vice President, Global Supply Chain (1)

Management

(1) Mr. Jones previously served as our Senior Vice President, Global Supply Chain Management from April 2008 until his promotion to Executive Vice President, effective October 13, 2009.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee of our Board (referred to in this discussion as the Committee) is directly responsible for determining, in consultation with our Board, the goals and objectives of our executive compensation programs and for the ongoing review and evaluation of our compensation programs to determine whether our compensation programs are achieving their intended objectives. In consultation with our Board, the Committee has primary responsibility for overseeing and approving all compensation matters relating to, and setting the compensation levels of, the named executive officers and all of our other executive officers and senior officers. The Committee also administers our equity compensation plans. Members of management and independent consultants provide input and recommendations to the Committee, but decisions are ultimately made by the Committee.

How Compensation Decisions Are Made

In August of each year, the Committee receives a formal presentation from its outside compensation consultants, which reports to the Committee on the competitiveness of the company s compensation programs, as well as its alignment with the company s compensation objectives. Based on the benchmarking data prepared by the Committee s outside compensation consultants and the consultants evaluation of the company s compensation programs, the Human Resources department of the company, with input from our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, prepares recommendations for our annual cash bonus program for the upcoming fiscal year and equity award grants to be made in respect of performance for the prior fiscal year. The Committee generally meets in September to review and consider the preliminary recommendations prepared by the Human Resources department and makes its final compensation decisions at its October meeting when the company s fiscal year financial results are being considered by our Board. At its October meeting, the Committee also reviews achievement of the prior fiscal year s annual cash bonus program and approves the annual bonus payouts. Base salary adjustments are made for our executive officers and other senior officers at the time of their individual performance reviews. Depending on company or individual circumstances, the Committee also may make other compensation decisions during the year. Due to the uncertainty in the economy and its effect on the company's business, the Committee did not adopt an annual bonus program for

fiscal year 2009 and instead decided that it would determine whether to award bonuses for fiscal 2009 after evaluating the company s performance for fiscal 2009. The Committee determined not to award any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009. Although there has been improvement in the macroeconomic environment, there continues to be significant uncertainty in the economy. Accordingly, at its October 2009 meeting, the Committee deferred action on the annual bonus program for fiscal 2010 and will consider the appropriate structure for the fiscal 2010 bonus program at a future time.

As part of its annual assessment of the company s compensation programs, the Committee evaluates whether changes in the design and mix of its compensation programs and practices are appropriate to better

align the compensation programs with the company s business strategies and compensation objectives, as well as to insure that the company s compensation programs do not encourage inappropriate risk taking. Following its fiscal 2009 review, the Committee recommended and the Board adopted an Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy. See the section *Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy* on page 35 of this proxy statement. The Committee believes that the design and mix of our compensation programs do not encourage inappropriate risk taking, based on the design of our annual incentive bonus program and our equity award policies. Our annual incentive bonus program (when applicable) provides that 25% of an executive s target bonus is subject to the Committee s discretionary evaluation of qualitative factors, including individual performance and achievement of strategic business initiatives, and also provides that the Committee retains discretion to adjust award payouts. In addition, our annual incentive bonus program provides for a maximum bonus payout of 150% of the target awards. Our policy for equity awards is to provide vesting periods of four years for stock options and five years for restricted stock awards, which the Committee believes are generally longer than our peer companies. The Committee believes that these design features focus our executives and other plan participants on promoting long-term value creation and properly align our compensation programs with our shareholders interests. Following its fiscal 2009 assessment of our compensation programs, the Committee recommended and the Board adopted the Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy as an additional structural element to mitigate risk relating to our compensation programs. The Committee will continue to evaluate the design and mix of our compensation programs and practices and will make adjustments, if appropriate, to better support our compensation objectives and to manage risk.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

We believe that the quality, skills and dedication of our executive officers are critical factors affecting the company s performance and shareholder value. Our key compensation goals are to:

recruit, retain and motivate highly talented executives; align our executives interests with those of our shareholders; and provide performance-based compensation that appropriately rewards our executives.

Accordingly, in determining the amount and mix of compensation, the Committee seeks to provide a competitive compensation package, structure annual and long-term incentive programs that reward achievement of performance goals that directly correlate to the enhancement of sustained, long-term shareholder value, and promote executive retention. To accomplish these objectives, the Committee has structured our compensation programs to include the following key features:

annual incentive cash bonuses are substantially at risk with 75% of the target bonuses earned only if the company achieves pre-established earnings per share targets;

annual incentive cash bonuses of up to 150% of target bonus amounts may be earned if the company achieves earnings per share in excess of target, with maximum payouts realized only when the company achieves earnings per share significantly higher than target;

up to 25% of an executive s target bonus is subject to the Committee s discretionary evaluation of qualitative factors, including individual performance and achievement of company strategic initiatives, which serves to focus management on long-term initiatives; and

long-term equity awards are made in the form of stock options and restricted shares, with extended vesting schedules in order to promote retention and to motivate our executives to create sustained, long-term shareholder value.

Due to the global economic crisis that began to impact the company in the second half of fiscal 2008, the Committee did not adopt an annual bonus program for fiscal year 2009 and instead decided that it would determine whether to award bonuses for fiscal 2009 after evaluating the company s performance for fiscal 2009. The Committee determined not to award any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009. Although there has been improvement in the

macroeconomic environment, there continues to be significant uncertainty in the

TABLE OF CONTENTS

economy. Accordingly, at its October 2009 meeting, the Committee deferred action on the annual bonus program for fiscal 2010 and will consider the appropriate structure for the fiscal 2010 bonus program at a future time.

The Committee does not maintain policies for allocating among current and long-term compensation or among cash and non-cash compensation. Instead, the Committee maintains flexibility and adjusts different elements of compensation based upon its evaluation of the company s key compensation goals set forth above. However, as a general matter, the Committee seeks to utilize equity-based awards to motivate executives to enhance long-term shareholder value and manages the dilutive effects of equity compensation through the company s share repurchase program.

While compensation levels may differ among NEOs based on competitive factors and the role, responsibilities and performance of each specific NEO, there are no material differences in the compensation philosophies, objectives or policies for our NEOs. However, as executives assume more responsibility, a greater percentage of their total target cash compensation is allocated to annual incentive bonus compensation, and a greater percentage of their total direct compensation is allocated to equity compensation. We do not have a policy regarding internal pay equity.

Our Chairman, Mitchell Jacobson, previously served as our chief executive officer from October 1995 to November 2005, when he was succeeded by David Sandler. Mr. Jacobson s compensation is principally comprised of his base salary, and he does not participate in the annual cash incentive bonus program or annual equity grants. See *Compensation of Our Chairman*. Accordingly, the discussion in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis generally does not apply to Mr. Jacobson s compensation.

Our executive officers generally do not have employment agreements, other than Mr. Boehlke (as described below), and serve at the will of our Board. Similarly, we generally do not enter into severance agreements with, nor do we have established severance arrangements for, our executive officers as part of the terms of their employment, other than in the case of Mr. Boehlke. This enables our Board to remove an executive officer, if necessary, prior to retirement or resignation whenever it is in our best interests. When an executive officer retires, resigns or is terminated, our Board exercises its business judgment in approving an appropriate separation or severance arrangement in light of all relevant circumstances, including the individual sterm of employment, past accomplishments and reasons for separation from the company. Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement sets forth his duties and responsibilities, the general terms of his annual compensation (which remains subject to the discretion of our Board), and his entitlement to paid vacation leave and to participate in such benefits as are generally made available to our other executive officers. Nothing in Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement obligates the company to employ Mr. Boehlke, and his employment may be terminated by the company at any time, subject to payment of certain severance benefits upon his termination by the company other than for cause. Compensation that may become payable following a change in control of the company, is discussed below under **Change of Control Arrangements*.

We do not provide our executives with pension or supplemental retirement plans, nor have we entered into any deferred compensation arrangements with our executives. Accordingly, we believe that our compensation programs are clear and understandable, both for our executives and our shareholders.

Compensation Consultants

The Committee has the authority to retain and terminate any third-party compensation consultant and to obtain advice and assistance from internal and external legal, accounting and other advisors. In connection with compensation decisions made by the Committee in October 2008, the Committee relied on competitive market data and analysis prepared by Towers Perrin, a compensation consulting firm which also had been retained by the Committee in prior

years. For compensation decisions made by the Committee in October 2009, the Committee relied on competitive market data and analysis prepared by Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. (referred to in this discussion as F.W. Cook). As part of its report to the Committee, F.W. Cook selected peer companies and general industry survey data, and provided competitive compensation data, benchmarking and analysis relating to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executives and senior officers. As explained above in the section *How Compensation Decisions are Made*, the Committee evaluates base salary and target bonuses at the beginning of the fiscal year and makes decisions on equity compensation awards (as well as final annual bonus payouts) after the end of the fiscal year.

Other than executive compensation consulting services provided to the Committee, F.W. Cook has not provided any other services to the company.

Competitive Positioning

Due to the global macroeconomic environment and its effect on the company s business, the Committee determined to freeze base salaries and not to adopt an annual incentive program for fiscal 2009. Accordingly, competitive market data prepared by Towers Perrin in late fiscal 2008 was used by the Committee for the following purposes:

to determine equity awards granted in October 2008 in respect of fiscal year 2008 performance; and as part of the Committee s evaluation of whether the operation of the company s overall compensation programs achieved their desired objectives based upon actual fiscal year 2008 compensation. In this regard, the Committee evaluated fiscal year 2008 total direct compensation as the sum of (i) base salary, (ii) the annual cash incentive bonus paid in respect of fiscal year 2008 performance, and (iii) the October 2008 equity awards granted in respect of fiscal year 2008 performance.

Competitive market data prepared by F.W. Cook in late fiscal 2009 was used by the Committee for the following purposes:

to determine equity awards granted in October 2009 in respect of fiscal year 2009 performance; and as part of the Committee s evaluation of whether the operation of the company s overall compensation programs achieved their desired objectives based upon actual fiscal year 2009 compensation. In this regard, the Committee evaluated fiscal year 2009 total direct compensation as the sum of (i) base salary, and (ii) the October 2009 equity awards granted in respect of fiscal year 2009 performance. The Committee determined not to award any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009.

In addition, the Committee expects to use the F.W. Cook market data in establishing threshold, target and maximum award opportunities for the annual incentive bonus program for fiscal 2010.

In determining the amounts of stock-based compensation awarded in October 2008 for the named executive officers (other than the Chairman), and other executive officers and senior officers, the Committee reviewed and benchmarked the compensation levels of the named executive officers and other executive officers and senior officers against comparable positions in the Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Databank for the Manufacturing/ Distribution Peer Group. The Committee, with input from the company s Human Resources department, worked with Towers Perrin to select comparable companies from the Towers Perrin databank survey based on annual revenues, market capitalization, geographic presence and comparability of business. Based on this process, Towers Perrin prepared competitive compensation peer group data for 25 comparable public companies as part of its report to the Committee in August 2008. The companies included in the 2008 peer group were substantially the same as the peer group used in the August 2007 Towers Perrin report.

The peer companies used in Towers Perrin s August 2008 analysis were as follows:

Avery Dennison Corporation

Brady Corporation Clarcor Inc.

Donaldson Company, Inc.

GATX Corporation Henry Schein, Inc.

The Black & Decker Corporation

CA, Inc.

Dentsply International Inc. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc.

Harsco Corporation

Herman Miller, Inc.

HNI Corporation
Jarden Corporation
Mine Safety Appliances Company
Schweitzer-Mauduit International, Inc.
Tennant Company
The Toro Company
W.W. Grainger, Inc.

IDEX Corporation
Kaman Industrial Technologies Corporation
OMNOVA Solutions Inc.
Steelcase Inc.
Thomas & Betts Corporation
Valmont Industries, Inc.

In determining the amounts of stock-based compensation awarded in October 2009 for the named executive officers (other than the Chairman), and other executive officers and senior officers, the Committee reviewed and benchmarked the compensation levels of the named executive officers and other executive officers and senior officers against market data developed by F.W. Cook. Market data developed by F.W. Cook was comprised of peer group compensation data for the CEO, CFO and three other most highly compensated executives, as reported in the proxy statements of peer companies, together with compensation data by functional position derived from two third party general industry surveys. Survey data for each position was collected based on functional matches within a revenue range comparable to the company. For our named executive officers (other than the Chairman), F.W. Cook gave one-third weighting to the peer company compensation data and one-third weighting to the data from each of the two general industry surveys. For other executive officers and senior officers, F.W. Cook generally gave equal weighting to the data from each of the two general industry surveys. In developing the peer group of companies, F.W. Cook consulted with the company s Human Resources department and the Chairman of the Committee to identify companies similar to the company in size and business mix. The Committee believes that the competitive market data compiled by F.W. Cook provides a more appropriate set of benchmarking data than in previous years because the selected peer companies were not limited to companies participating in an industry survey, thereby allowing F.W. Cook and the Committee to select companies that were more comparable in size and business mix. In addition, by balancing the peer company data with compensation data from two broad general industry surveys, the Committee believes that the benchmarking data is more representative and less subject to distortion.

Peer companies selected by F.W. Cook, as described above, consisted of the following:

Airgas, Inc. Applied Industrial Technologies, Inc.

Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. BlueLinx Holdings Inc.

Fastenal Company H&E Equipment Services, Inc.

Interline Brands, Inc. Kaman Corporation

Lawson Products, Inc. Patterson Companies, Inc.

PSS World Medical, Inc. Rush Enterprises, Inc.

ScanSource, Inc. United Natural Foods, Inc.

Watsco, Inc. WESCO International, Inc.

W.W. Grainger, Inc.

The Committee generally targets annual base salary at the median or 50th percentile of the market data. Total cash compensation (the sum of base salary and target annual bonus) and total direct compensation (the sum of total cash compensation and long-term equity compensation) generally are targeted between the 50th and 75th percentiles of the market data. Maximum total cash compensation (the sum of base salary and maximum annual bonus) and maximum total direct compensation (the sum of maximum total cash compensation and long-term equity compensation) generally are targeted to approximate the 75th percentile of the market data. The Committee believes that this competitive positioning is consistent with the goals of the company s compensation programs, by linking pay to performance and providing top tier compensation only when the company achieves superior performance. As noted above, due to the global economic crisis and its effect on the company, the Committee did not adopt an annual incentive bonus plan for fiscal 2009.

As secondary comparative compensation data for our named executive officers, the Committee also reviewed the median and average compensation levels of the named executive officers at a geographic peer group comprised of five public companies whose headquarters are located on Long Island, New York. F.W. Cook compiled data derived from the most recent proxy statements of these companies. The Committee does not benchmark compensation against this peer group and uses this data only for reference purposes and as additional validation of the primary market data used for benchmarking. In reviewing the data, the Committee noted that fiscal 2009 total direct compensation for our

named executive officers was below the median and average figures in the geographic peer group.

The geographic peer group is comprised of the following companies.

Arrow Electronics, Inc. CA, Inc. Pall Corporation

Cablevision Systems Corporation Henry Schein, Inc.

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions

As part of its process, the Committee meets with our Chief Executive Officer and our Chairman to obtain recommendations with respect to the structure of our compensation programs and compensation decisions, including the performance of individual executives. The Committee obtains our Chairman s input on the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Executive Officer provides the Committee with input on the compensation of the other named executive officers (other than the Chairman) and other executive officers and senior officers. Our Senior Vice President, Human Resources collects and analyzes relevant data, including comparative compensation data prepared by F.W. Cook, which is used by the Committee to make compensation decisions.

Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation

Summary of Fiscal Year 2009 Compensation Decisions

The Committee believes that management performed well in a challenging economic environment. Management was effective in controlling costs, executing the company s strategic business initiatives, and positioning the company for growth when the economy recovers. Given the macroeconomic environment and its effect on the company, management did not recommend and the Committee did not approve any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009. In addition, as part of the company s cost controls, base salaries were frozen effective January 2009 and the company suspended its 401(k) plan matching contribution effective March 2009. Consistent with the Committee s policy, base salaries generally remained at the median level of the market data, with the exception of Douglas Jones, whose base salary was 19.6% above the median. Given the Committee s policy that total direct compensation fall between the median and 75th percentile of the market data, equity awards granted in October 2009 were higher in value than equity awards granted in October 2008. Year over year increases in equity compensation for our named executive officers ranged between 9% and 19%. Total direct compensation for our Chief Executive Officer for fiscal 2009 was 8.4% lower than his total direct compensation for fiscal year 2008, and total direct compensation for the other named executive officers (other than our Chairman) for fiscal 2009 was lower than fiscal year 2008 total direct compensation by a range of between 8.2% and 11.8%. Total cash compensation for our Chief Executive Officer for fiscal 2009 was 48.9% lower than his total cash compensation for fiscal year 2008, and total cash compensation for the other named executive officers (other than the Chairman) for fiscal 2009 was lower than fiscal year 2008 total cash compensation by a range of between 26.8% and 34.6%. Although the Committee recognized that the company performed well in a difficult economic environment and that individual performance was excellent, the Committee believes that the lower compensation levels for fiscal year 2009 were appropriate and consistent with the philosophy and objectives of the company s compensation programs.

Compensation of our Chairman

Mitchell Jacobson has served as our Chairman since January 1998 and previously served as our President from October 1995 through November 2003, when David Sandler was promoted to that position, and as our Chief Executive Officer from October 1995 through November 2005, when he was succeeded by Mr. Sandler.

Mr. Jacobson s compensation for fiscal year 2009 consisted principally of his base salary of \$975,000. Mr. Jacobson does not participate in our annual cash incentive program, nor does he receive long-term equity compensation. The Committee has determined that Mr. Jacobson s base salary and benefits properly compensate Mr. Jacobson for his ongoing leadership and vision and his years of experience serving the company. Given Mr. Jacobson s substantial equity ownership, the Committee does not believe it is appropriate for Mr. Jacobson s compensation package to include performance-based compensation elements. Mr. Jacobson s compensation is not benchmarked against market data because his position is unique to our company, and the Committee therefore evaluates his compensation based on the considerations discussed above. The Committee reviews Mr. Jacobson s compensation on an annual basis. Mr. Jacobson s base salary of \$975,000 in fiscal year 2009 was unchanged from his base salary in fiscal year 2008.

Elements of Compensation

We allocate compensation among the following components for our named executive officers (other than our Chairman):

base salary; annual incentive cash bonuses; stock-based compensation in the form of stock options and restricted shares; and other benefits

Base Salary

Base salaries for our executive officers are established based on the scope of their responsibilities, taking into account competitive market compensation paid by other companies for similar positions, as well as salaries paid to the executives peers within the company. Base salaries are typically adjusted each year in connection with the executives performance evaluations to take into account competitive market data, individual performance and promotions or changed responsibilities. The Committee seeks to target base salary levels at the median or 50th percentile of market data. However, in individual cases, base salary levels may differ based upon the executive s experience, individual performance and other considerations. As discussed above, the Committee did not adjust base salaries during fiscal 2009. Base salary levels generally remained at the median of the market data, with the exception of Douglas Jones, whose base salary was 19.6% above the median.

Annual Incentive Bonus Program

In the past, our annual incentive cash bonus program has had two components: a performance component based on achievement of earnings per share levels, and a discretionary component based on the Committee's qualitative evaluation of individual performance and management achievement of strategic business initiatives. Key elements of the program are as follows:

achievement of threshold, target and maximum bonus awards for the performance component is based on achievement of diluted earnings per share levels;

threshold, target and maximum bonus award levels are set at dollar amounts based on competitive benchmarking; up to 25% of an executive s target bonus is subject to the Committee s discretionary evaluation of qualitative factors, including individual performance and achievement of strategic business initiatives;

maximum bonus payout is 150% of target;

for the performance component, the threshold EPS level is set at 90% of target EPS with incremental dollar payouts for each penny of additional EPS between threshold and target EPS levels;

for achievement of EPS between target and maximum levels, each penny of additional EPS results in an incremental bonus payout;

in calculating diluted EPS for purposes of determining bonus payouts, the Committee exercises its discretion to adjust GAAP EPS to account for non-recurring and other similar items; and

the Committee retains discretion to adjust annual bonus payouts below the amounts correlating to EPS performance.

As discussed above, due to the global economic recession and its effects on the company s business, the Committee did not adopt an annual incentive bonus program for fiscal 2009, and management did not recommend and the Committee did not award any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009. In determining not to award an annual

Committee did not award any annual incentive bonuses for fiscal 2009. In determining not to award an annual incentive bonus, the Committee considered that management had achieved strategic business initiatives for fiscal year 2009 on a level that in prior years would have resulted in payment of the

discretionary component of the annual incentive award. Nevertheless, the Committee determined that because of the dramatic effects of the economic recession on overall company performance, it was not appropriate to award any bonus. As a recognition of the efforts of all company employees, including management, the Committee did approve a special payment in the amount of one week's base salary to all company employees (this special payment is not included in the total cash compensation and total direct compensation percentages discussed under *Summary of Fiscal Year 2009 Compensation Decisions* above).

Long-Term Stock-based Compensation

At its October 2008 and 2009 meetings, the Committee approved annual equity awards, including awards to the named executive officers and other executive officers and senior officers. The Committee's practice is to grant awards annually at its October meeting at the time our Board reviews financial results for the prior fiscal year. The annual grants are made in respect of the prior fiscal year s performance and are used by the Committee to achieve the desired total direct compensation for the prior fiscal year.

The Committee grants stock options and restricted shares under our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan in order to provide competitive compensation, promote retention, and to align the interests of our executives with those of our shareholders. We believe that providing combined grants of stock options and restricted shares effectively focuses our executives on delivering long-term value to our shareholders. Stock options motivate our executives to increase shareowner value because the options only have value to the extent the price of MSC stock on the date of exercise exceeds the stock price on the date of grant, and thus compensation is realized only if the stock price increases over the term of the award. Restricted share awards reward and retain the executives by offering them the opportunity to receive MSC shares on the date the restrictions lapse so long as they continue to be employed by the company. The Committee does not have a policy on allocating between options and restricted stock awards, but seeks to balance the retentive value of restricted stock awards which have a more stable value as compared with options.

The Committee s policy in recent years has been to provide for vesting in four equal increments on each of the first four anniversary dates of the date of grant for stock options with terms of seven or ten years. For grants of restricted stock, the Committee s policy has been to provide for vesting in three increments, with 50% of the grant vesting on the third anniversary and 25% vesting on each of the fourth and fifth anniversaries. The Committee believes that these vesting periods are longer than the periods found competitively in our industry and that this aspect of our equity compensation package promotes executive retention and management stability, and fosters focus on long-term growth aligned with building shareholder value.

In granting equity awards, the Committee takes into consideration the dilutive effect on earnings to all of our shareholders once the shares are issued or vested, and seeks to mitigate this effect by repurchasing shares from time to time under our stock buyback program. The Committee also evaluates and benchmarks its annual equity grants as a percentage of outstanding shares and the fully diluted overhang of outstanding equity awards plus shares available for grant. In its report to the Committee, F.W. Cook concluded that our annual share usage rates have been below the median rate of our peer companies and our fully diluted equity overhang is conservative and below the 25th percentile of our peer companies.

As discussed below under *Change of Control Arrangements*, the vesting of outstanding stock options and the lapse of restrictions on restricted stock are accelerated upon a change of control of the company only in limited circumstances.

Grants During Fiscal Year 2009 (in Respect of Fiscal Year 2008 Performance)

The number of stock options and restricted shares granted to the named executive officers (other than our Chairman) in fiscal year 2009, and the grant-date fair value of these awards determined in accordance with FAS 123R, are shown in the Fiscal Year 2009 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table beginning on page 39 of this proxy statement. These equity awards were granted in respect of fiscal year 2008 performance. Equity awards granted in October 2008 were based on overall company and individual performance of the named executive officers, and were intended to produce total direct compensation trending toward the 50th percentile of our peer companies.

Grants During Fiscal Year 2010 (in Respect of Fiscal Year 2009 Performance)

The number of stock options and restricted shares granted to the named executive officers (other than our Chairman) in fiscal year 2010, and the grant-date fair value of these awards determined in accordance with FAS 123R, are shown in the Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010 table beginning on page 40 of this proxy statement. These equity awards were granted in respect of fiscal year 2009 performance. Given the Committee s policy that total direct compensation fall between the median and 75th percentile of the market data, equity awards granted in October 2009 were higher in value than equity awards granted in October 2008. Year over year increases in equity compensation for our named executive officers ranged between 9% and 19%.

Administration of Equity Award Grants

The Committee grants options with exercise prices set at the market price on the date of grant, based on the closing market price on the date of grant. Our current policy is that options and restricted share awards to executive officers and other senior officers are granted on an annual basis at the October meeting of the Committee, which occurs when our Board reviews annual financial results and when the Committee completes its annual compensation review process. The approval process specifies the individual receiving the grant, the number of shares subject to options and the dollar value of restricted shares, with the number of restricted shares to be determined based on the closing price of our shares on the date of grant. Grants for employees other than officers also are approved by the Committee and the Committee does not delegate authority for making grants to any member of management. Our current policy provides that off-cycle grants and promotion and new hire grants may be approved at regularly scheduled or special meetings. We do not time our equity award grants relative to the release of material non-public information.

Stock Ownership Policy

We do not have any stock ownership requirements for our executives. We believe that the extended vesting provisions of our options and restricted stock awards for our executives properly align their interests with those of our shareholders, and encourage and incentivize long-term planning and strategic initiatives to enhance shareholder value.

Benefits

We provide our executives with certain health, insurance, travel and other perquisites. Our executives can participate in our 401(k) plan (which includes company matching contributions of 50% up to the first 6% of a participant s contributions), our Associate Stock Purchase Plan and our health benefit and insurance programs on the same basis as all our employees. Effective March 2009, we have suspended company matching contributions under our 401(k) plan. We provide our Chief Executive Officer with aircraft commutation and local housing benefits, and our Chairman with a personal assistant, in each case on a grossed up basis to reimburse the executive for income taxes on such benefits. See *Executive Compensation Summary Compensation Table* beginning on page 37 of this proxy statement (and the perquisites table at footnote 4 thereto) for additional detail and quantification of these benefits. We also provide our executives with either a car allowance or a leased vehicle. Generally, our travel policies provide that executives travel coach class (domestic) and business class (international) on company business and pay the travel and related expenses of any family member that may accompany them.

We do not provide any other executive perquisites such as supplemental life insurance, financial planning, country club membership, or special health benefits.

Change of Control Arrangements

All of our named executive officers are parties to change in control severance arrangements, other than Mr. Boehlke whose employment agreement provides the same benefits, and Mr. Jacobson, who is not a party to any employment or change in control agreement. For a description of our executives change in control agreements and Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement, see the section entitled *Executive Compensation Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control* beginning on page 47 of this proxy statement.

We believe that such arrangements are important to promote the stability of our business and our key personnel during the transition period following a change in control transaction, and to keep our executives

focused on the business rather than on their employment prospects. These arrangements serve to assure the retention of key executives in order to successfully execute a change of control transaction. To this end, the change of control benefits only are provided if the executive remains with the company through the change of control and is terminated or his duties are substantially changed, commonly referred to as a double trigger. However, in the case of Mr. Sandler, his agreement also provides for a lump sum cash severance payment upon a change in control of the company. See the section entitled *Executive Compensation Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control Employment and Change in Control Agreements* beginning on page 43 of this proxy statement. We do not have any other severance arrangements with our named executive officers, other than in respect of the operation of the acceleration features of our equity plans, as discussed below.

As discussed in more detail in the section entitled *Executive Compensation Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control Equity Award Plans* beginning on page 45 of this proxy statement, since January 2006, all stock options and restricted stock awards have been made under the 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. Under the 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, in the event of a change in control transaction pursuant to a merger agreement, outstanding stock options and restricted stock awards shall be continued, assumed or substituted if so provided in the merger agreement. In the absence of a merger agreement which addresses the effects of a change of control, the vesting of outstanding options shall accelerate and the restrictions applicable to all restricted stock awards shall lapse and all such awards shall be settled at a change of control price, which is generally defined as the highest price paid in a tender offer or merger transaction. The Committee believes that these provisions provide our Board with appropriate flexibility to address the treatment of options and restricted shares in a merger or similar transaction that is approved by our Board, while providing appropriate protections to our executives and other employees in transactions which are not approved by our Board.

Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy

On October 13, 2009, the Committee recommended and our Board adopted an Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy. The policy covers all executive officers of the company, as well as the company s corporate controller, and applies to incentive awards under our annual incentive compensation plan and equity awards under our equity plans, granted or awarded after the adoption of the Policy. The policy provides our Board with discretion to obtain recoupment of awards as follows:

in the event of a significant restatement of financial results, other than as a result of a change in accounting principles (a Restatement), the Board may recoup cash incentive bonuses and equity awards that were paid or that vested to the extent that the amount paid or that vested would have been lower if the financial results had been properly reported; in the event of a Restatement where a covered officer engaged in misconduct that caused or partially caused the need for the Restatement, the Board may take any or all of the following actions with respect to such covered officer: (i) recoup all cash incentive bonuses and equity awards that were paid or that vested based upon the achievement of financial results that were subsequently reduced due to the Restatement, (ii) cancel outstanding equity awards, (iii) recoup any shares received from the vesting or exercise of equity awards, and (iv) recoup any net proceeds from any sale of shares upon or following the vesting or exercise of equity awards;

in the event that following termination of employment, a covered officer breaches his or her non-competition, non-solicitation or non-disclosure covenants owed to the company, the Board may take any or all of the following actions with respect to such covered officer: (i) cancel outstanding equity awards, (ii) recoup any shares received from the vesting or exercise of equity awards during the period beginning two years before and ending two years after the covered officer s termination of employment, and (iii) recoup any net proceeds from any sale of shares upon or following the vesting or exercise of equity awards during the period beginning two years before and ending two years after the covered officer s termination of employment.

The Board only may seek recoupment in cases of a Restatement if either the Restatement shall have occurred within 36 months of the publication of the audited financial statements that have been restated, or the

Audit Committee of the Board shall have taken steps to consider a Restatement prior to the end of such 36 months and the Restatement occurs within 48 months of the publication of the audited financial statements.

In the event of a change in control, as defined in the company s 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, the company s right to seek recoupment shall terminate.

Federal Income Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 prevents us from taking a tax deduction for non-performance-based compensation in excess of \$1 million in any fiscal year paid to our Chief Executive Officer and the three other most highly compensated executive officers (excluding our Chief Financial Officer). We design our compensation programs to consider the effect of Section 162(m) together with the objectives of our compensation programs. We will pay non-deductible compensation when necessary to achieve our executive compensation objectives. Stock options granted under our equity compensation plans qualify as performance-based compensation for purposes of Section 162(m), but restricted share awards under such plans and annual cash bonuses under our annual cash incentive program do not qualify as performance-based compensation, and are therefore subject to the \$1 million limit on deductible compensation.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The table below sets forth the compensation of the following named executive officers for services rendered to the company during the fiscal years ended September 1, 2007, August 30, 2008 and August 29, 2009:

our President and Chief Executive Officer; our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; and

the three other most highly compensated executive officers serving as executive officers at the end of the 2009 fiscal year.

A detailed description of the plans and programs under which our named executive officers received the following compensation can be found in the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis* beginning on page 26 of this proxy statement. Additional information about these plans and programs is included in the additional tables and discussions which follow the Summary Compensation Table.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Stock Awards (\$) ⁽²⁾	Option Awards (\$) ⁽³⁾	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensati (\$) ⁽⁴⁾	All Other Compensa	Total ation (\$)
Mitchell Jacobson	2009	975,000				213,346	1,188,346
Chairman of the Board	2008	975,000				220,699	1,195,699
Chamilian of the Board	2007	975,000		30,733		220,590	1,226,323
David Sandler	2009	740,000	591,578	1,494,440		424,208	3,250,226
President and Chief Executive	2008	722,750	534,676	1,435,128	706,215	475,367	3,874,136
Officer	2007	651,461	297,767	954,332	1,164,400	354,769	3,422,729
Charles Boehlke	2009	462,594	369,593	516,564		13,046	1,361,797
Executive Vice President and	2008	457,359	342,103	650,195	244,810	7,180	1,701,647
Chief Financial Officer	2007	440,572	190,365	524,736	403,650	7,180	1,566,503
Thomas Cox	2009	317,818	225,365	443,898		24,420	1,011,501
	2008	312,613	197,825	452,800	164,819	21,596	1,149,653
Executive Vice President, Sales	2007	301,279	103,275	323,469	271,700	22,072	1,021,795
Douglas Jones	2009	308,000	126,945	221,071		9,619	665,635
Executive Vice President,	2008	291,697	115,117	244,328	112,956	7,128	711,226
Global Supply Chain Operations	2007	281,515	64,199	187,232	186,300	6,575	725,821

⁽¹⁾ The amounts shown in this column reflect the executive's actual base salary.

⁽²⁾ The amounts in this column do not reflect compensation actually received by the named executive officers nor do they reflect the actual value that will be recognized by the named executive officers. Instead, the amounts reflect the compensation expense for restricted stock grants recognized for financial statement reporting purposes (exclusive of any assumptions for forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions) in accordance with FAS 123R during fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009. These amounts include expense for grants made in the fiscal year shown as well as in prior fiscal years. This valuation method values restricted stock granted during the indicated

year and previous years, based on the fair market value of our common stock (the closing price as reported on the New York Stock Exchange) on the date of grant. The full grant-date fair value of restricted stock granted in fiscal year 2009 (with respect to fiscal year 2008 performance) is reflected in the Fiscal Year 2009 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table beginning on page 39 of this proxy statement and the full grant-date fair value of restricted stock granted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 (with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance) is reflected in the Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010 table beginning on page 40 of this proxy statement.

The amounts in this column do not reflect compensation actually received by the named executive officers nor do they reflect the actual value that will be recognized by the named executive officers. Instead, the amounts reflect (3) the compensation expense for stock option grants recognized for financial statement reporting purposes (exclusive

of any assumptions for forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions) in accordance with FAS 123R during fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009. These amounts

include expense for grants made in the fiscal year shown as well as in prior fiscal years. The full grant-date fair value of stock options granted in fiscal year 2009 (with respect to fiscal year 2008 performance) is reflected in the Fiscal Year 2009 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table beginning on page 39 of this proxy statement and the full grant-date fair value of stock options granted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 (with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance) is reflected in the Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010 table beginning on page 40 of this proxy statement. For information regarding assumptions made in calculating the amounts reflected in this column for grants made in fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009, please refer to Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009. For information regarding assumptions made in calculating the amounts reflected in this column for grants made prior to fiscal year 2007, see Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the respective fiscal years.

No annual cash incentive awards were paid for fiscal year 2009 performance. The amounts shown in this column for fiscal years 2008 and 2007 reflect amounts earned in those years pursuant to our annual cash incentive awards

- (4) program for our named executive officers. For more information, see the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation Annual Incentive Bonus Program* beginning on page 32 of this proxy statement.
- (5) The following table provides a breakdown of the compensation included in the All Other Compensation column for fiscal year 2009:

Name	Housing and Travel (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Personal Use of Company Aircraft (\$) ⁽²⁾	Administr Assistant (\$) ⁽³⁾		401(k) cMatch (\$)	Life	Tax	Other pPayments (\$) ⁽⁵⁾	Total S(\$)
Mitchell Jacobson			115,270		3,375	774	93,927		213,346
David Sandler	47,288	292,091		16,703	6,657	414	46,824	14,231	424,208
Charles Boehlke					3,736	414		8,896	13,046
Thomas Cox				14,400	3,615	270		6,135	24,420
Douglas Jones					3,457	239		5,923	9,619

- (1) The amount in this column includes a housing allowance of \$41,288 for an apartment for Mr. Sandler's use and a travel allowance of \$6,000.
 - The amount in this column represents personal use for commutation trips of an aircraft in which we have an
- (2)interest, reflecting the company s total incremental cost of such use. We use a methodology to determine incremental costs based on aircraft fuel, landing and parking services, crew travel expenses and other expenses. In fiscal year 2009, we provided Mr. Jacobson with access to an employee of the company to serve as Mr.
- (3) Jacobson's personal administrative assistant. The number in this column reflects our payroll and fringe benefit cost of this assistant.
 - The amount in this column for Mr. Sandler reflects tax gross-ups made to reimburse Mr. Sandler for income taxes paid in fiscal year 2009 in respect of the compensation attributed to him for personal use of the aircraft of \$8,304,
- (4) and travel reimbursement and use of his Melville, New York apartment of \$38,520. The amount in this column for Mr. Jacobson reflects tax gross-up payments made to reimburse Mr. Jacobson for the income taxes paid in respect of the compensation attributed to him for the use of the personal administrative assistant.
 - The amounts in this column represent a special payment of one week s base salary, which was made to all
- (5)employees, in recognition of the collective efforts of the company s employees on behalf of the company in a difficult economic environment.

Fiscal Year 2009 Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table shows the stock options and the restricted stock awards granted to our named executive officers in fiscal year 2009 (with respect to fiscal year 2008 performance). Mr. Jacobson did not receive any grants of plan-based awards in fiscal year 2009.

Name	Grant Date	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#) ⁽¹⁾	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Option (#) ⁽²⁾	Exercise or Base of Option Awards (\$/Sh) ⁽³⁾	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$)(4)
David Sandler	10/16/2008	15,996			608,968
	10/16/2008		150,000	38.07	1,507,500
Charles Boehlke	10/16/2008	9,613			365,967
	10/16/2008		40,000	38.07	402,000
Thomas Cox	10/16/2008	6,829			259,980
	10/16/2008		40,000	38.07	402,000
Douglas Jones	10/16/2008	3,546			134,996
	10/16/2008		20,000	38.07	201,000

This column reflects restricted stock awards granted in fiscal year 2009 (with respect to fiscal year 2008 performance) pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. These awards vest 50% on the third anniversary of the grant date, and 25% on each of the succeeding two anniversaries of the date of grant. The restricted stock granted to our named executive officers has no express performance criteria other than continued employment (with limited exceptions for termination of employment due to death, disability, retirement and change in control). For additional information, see the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis Fiscal Year 2009*

Executive Compensation Long-Term Stock-based Compensation beginning on page 33 of this proxy statement. For the restricted stock awards granted to our named executive officers with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance (although made in fiscal year 2010) see the Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010 table below.

This column reflects stock option awards granted in fiscal year 2009 (with respect to fiscal year 2008 performance) pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. The stock options granted to our named executive officers in fiscal year 2009 have a seven-year term and fully vest over four years, with 25% of the stock options vesting on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant. The stock options granted to our named executive officers have no express performance criteria other than continued employment (with limited exceptions for termination of

- (2) employment due to death, disability, retirement and change in control). For additional information, see the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation Long-Term Stock-based Compensation* beginning on page 33 of this proxy statement. For the stock options granted to our named executive officers with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance (although made in fiscal year 2010) see the Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010 table below.
- (3) Awards were issued at fair market value, which we determined based on the closing price of a share of our Class A common stock as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on the day of the grant.

(4)

The amounts in this column do not reflect compensation actually received by the named executive officers nor do they reflect the actual value that will be recognized by the named executive officers. Instead, the amounts represent the full grant date fair value of awards as calculated in accordance with FAS 123R. The grant date fair value is the amount that we will expense in our financial statements over the award s vesting schedule. For restricted stock awards, fair value is the closing price of a share of our Class A common stock as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on the day of the grant, October 16, 2008, which was \$38.07. The fair values shown for stock options are accounted for in accordance with FAS 123R. For additional information on the valuation assumptions, please refer to Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009.

Dividends declared from time to time on our outstanding shares of Class A common stock are paid on our restricted stock awards, including the portion on which the restrictions have not lapsed, since the shares are outstanding. The quarterly dividend rate for each quarter in fiscal year 2009 was \$0.20 per share.

Equity Awards Granted in the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2010

On October 13, 2009, we granted stock options and restricted stock to all of our named executive officers, other than Mr. Jacobson, with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance, which are not listed in the above tables, as follows:

	Number of	Value of Stock	Number of	Value of
Nome	Stock Options	Options	Restricted	Restricted
Name	Granted	Granted	Shares Granted	Shares Granted
	$(#)^{(1)}$	$(\$)^{(2)}$	$(#)^{(3)}$	$(\$)^{(4)}$
David Sandler	141,960	1,773,080	16,979	749,962
Charles Boehlke	37,856	472,821	8,286	365,993
Thomas Cox	37,856	472,821	5,886	259,985
Douglas Jones	18,928	236,411	3,192	140,991

This column reflects stock option awards granted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 (with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance) pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. The stock options granted to our named executive officers in fiscal year 2010 have a seven-year term and fully vest over four years, with 25% of the stock options vesting on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant. The stock options granted to our named

- (1) vesting on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant. The stock options granted to our named executive officers have no express performance criteria other than continued employment (with limited exceptions for termination of employment due to death, disability, retirement and change in control). For additional information, see the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation Long-Term Stock-based Compensation* beginning on page 33 of this proxy statement.
- (2) The stock options granted were valued at \$12.49 per share in accordance with FAS 123R. This column reflects restricted stock awards granted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 (with respect to fiscal year 2009 performance) pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. These awards vest 50% on the third anniversary of the grant date, and 25% on each of the succeeding two anniversaries of the date of grant. The restricted stock granted to our named executive officers has no express performance criteria other than continued
- employment (with limited exceptions for termination of employment due to death, disability, retirement and change in control). For additional information, see the section entitled *Compensation Discussion and Analysis Fiscal Year 2009 Executive Compensation Long-Term Stock-based Compensation* beginning on page 33 of this proxy statement.

These values are based upon the grant date fair value of \$44.17 per share, which was the closing price of a share of (4) our Class A common stock as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on that date, in accordance with FAS 123R.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year-End Table

The following table shows the amount of outstanding stock option and restricted stock awards previously granted and held by the named executive officers as of August 29, 2009.

The market value of the stock awards is based on the closing price of a share of our Class A common stock as of August 28, 2009, the last business day of our 2009 fiscal year, which was \$39.97.

	Option Aw	ards				Stock Award	ls
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercise Options (#)	Inevercise	g ed	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)
Mitchell Jacobson	125,000	c Officaciersa	ioic	14.50	9/20/2011		(Φ)
David Sandler	23,696			23.41	10/19/2013		
David Salidici	45,750	15,250	(1)	37.45	10/19/2013		
	65,000	,	(2)	42.78	10/20/2012		
	37,500	,	(3)	48.21	10/17/2014		
	37,300	,	(4)	38.07	10/16/2015		
		130,000		30.07	10/10/2013	3,250 (5)	129,903
						3,374 (6)	134,859
						5,763 ⁽⁷⁾	230,347
						13,675 (8)	546,590
						12,632 (9)	504,901
						15,996 (10)	639,360
Charles Boehlke	27,500			23.41	10/19/2013	10,550	027,200
	42,000			32.40	10/25/2011		
	31,500	10,500	(1)	37.45	10/20/2012		
	21,000		(2)	42.78	10/15/2013		
	10,000		(3)	48.21	10/17/2014		
	,	,	(4)	38.07	10/16/2015		
						1,820 (5) 2,309 (6) 3,943 (7) 8,228 (8) 7,592 (9) 9,613 (10)	72,745 92,291 157,602 328,873 303,452 384,232
Thomas Cox	25,000 20,000 18,750 20,000 10,000	20,000	(1) (2) (3)	23.41 32.40 37.45 42.78 48.21	10/19/2013 10/25/2011 10/20/2012 10/15/2013 10/17/2014		

40,000	(4)	38.07	10/16/2015			
				860	(5)	34,374
				1,101	(6)	44,007
				1,925	(7)	76,942
				5,844	(8)	233,585
				5,393	(9)	215,558
				6,829	(10)	272,955

Name	Option Av Number of Securities Underlyin Unexercis Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercise Options (#)	s ng sed	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Stock Awar Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)
Douglas Jones	6,400			23.41	10/19/2013		, ,
-	13,500			32.40	10/25/2011		
	10,125	3,375	(1)	37.45	10/20/2012		
	10,000	10,000	(2)	42.78	10/15/2013		
	4,500	13,500	(3)	48.21	10/17/2014		
		20,000	(4)	38.07	10/16/2015		
						640 (5)	25,581
						746 (6)	29,818
						1,342 (7)	53,640
						2,805 (8)	112,116
						2,593 (9)	103,642
						3,546 (10)	141,734

- (1) The remaining stock options became exercisable on October 21, 2009.
- One-half of these stock options became exercisable on October 16, 2009. The remaining one-half of these stock options shall become exercisable on October 16, 2010.
- One-third of these stock options became exercisable on October 18, 2009. Another one-third of these stock options shall become exercisable on each of October 18, 2010 and October 18, 2011.
- One-quarter of these stock options became exercisable on October 16, 2009. Another one-quarter of these stock options shall become exercisable on each of October 16, 2010, October 16, 2011 and October 16, 2012.
 - (5) The restrictions on one-half of these shares shall lapse on each of January 6, 2010 and January 6, 2011.

 (6) The restrictions on these shares shall lapse on January 4, 2010.
 - (7) The restrictions on one-half of these shares shall lapse on each of January 10, 2010 and January 10, 2011.
- The restrictions on one-half of these shares shall lapse on October 16, 2009. The restrictions on the remaining shares shall lapse ratably on each of October 16, 2010 and October 16, 2011.
- (9) The restrictions on one-half of these shares shall lapse on October 18, 2010. The restrictions on the remaining shares shall lapse ratably on each of October 18, 2011 and October 18, 2012.
- The restrictions on one-half of these shares shall lapse on October 16, 2011. The restrictions on the remaining shares shall lapse ratably on each of October 16, 2012 and October 16, 2013.

Fiscal Year 2009 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table shows (i) the number of shares of our Class A common stock acquired upon the exercise of stock options by the named executive officers in fiscal year 2009, (ii) the number of shares of restricted stock held by the named executive officers which vested in fiscal year 2009, and (iii) the value realized upon the exercise of such stock options and the vesting of such shares, in each case before payment of any applicable withholding tax and broker commissions.

	Option Awar Number of	Option Awards Number of		ds
	Shares	Value Realized	Shares	Value Realized
Name	Acquired on	on Exercise	Acquired	on Vesting
	Exercise	$(\$)^{(1)}$	on Vesting	$(\$)^{(2)}$
	(#)		(#)	
Mitchell Jacobson	125,000	3,326,965		
David Sandler	61,000	488,482	10,761	389,117
Charles Boehlke	4,000	32,760	7,161	258,819
Thomas Cox	6,896	175,070	3,456	124,830
Douglas Jones			2,407	86,895

The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate dollar amount realized upon exercise of the options determined (1) by the difference between the market price of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise price of the options.

(2) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate dollar amount realized upon the vesting of stock determined by multiplying the number of shares of stock by the market value of the underlying shares on the vesting date.

Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Our named executive officers do not receive any compensation in the form of pension benefits or nonqualified deferred compensation.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

Employment and Change in Control Agreements

We have entered into a written employment agreement with Mr. Boehlke and a written change in control agreement with each of the other named executive officers, other than Mr. Jacobson. The terms of these agreements are outlined below. In addition to these agreements, each of the named executive officers, other than Mr. Jacobson, executed a confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreement under which each executive agreed not to use or disclose any confidential information relating to the company during the executive's employment and after termination. Each executive also agreed not to compete with the company or to solicit any employees of the company during his or her employment and for two years following termination of his or her employment. All payments under the change in control arrangements are contingent on the executives complying with the foregoing obligations.

Under the terms of our executives change in control agreements, and under Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement, cause is generally defined to include (i) the commission by the executive of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude, (ii)

dishonesty, disloyalty, fraud, embezzlement, theft, disclosure of trade secrets or confidential information or other breaches of fiduciary duties owed to the company and (iii) reporting to work or working under the influence of an intoxicant or a controlled substance which renders the executive incapable of performing his or her duties to the satisfaction of the company.

In addition, a change in control of the company will be deemed to have occurred under our executives change in control agreements, and under Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement, if (i) any person or group of persons other than Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Gershwind, a member of the Jacobson or Gershwind families or any related trust or affiliate acquires ownership of more than 50% of the combined equity or voting power of the company; (ii) a majority of the members of our Board are replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election was not endorsed by a majority of the members of our Board prior to such appointment or election; or (iii) there is a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the company s assets, excluding certain transfers to shareholders and affiliates.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

David Sandler

David Sandler and the company are parties to a change in control agreement. The agreement provides that in the event of a change in control of the company, as defined in the agreement, we shall pay a lump sum payment of \$1,200,000 to Mr. Sandler.

The agreement further provides that if within five years after the occurrence of a change in control, (a) we terminate Mr. Sandler's employment other than for cause or (b) Mr. Sandler resigns following a material reduction in his duties or reporting responsibilities, annual base salary, status or working conditions, then we shall pay Mr. Sandler a lump sum payment equal to (i) five times his annual base salary in effect immediately before such termination or change in circumstances, plus (ii) five times the largest annual cash incentive award paid to Mr. Sandler during the three years preceding the termination, minus (iii) the base salary and cash incentive amounts paid to Mr. Sandler during the period between the occurrence of the change in control of the company and the termination of Mr. Sandler's employment. As a condition to receiving this severance payment, Mr. Sandler must execute a general release in favor of the company.

We have agreed to indemnify Mr. Sandler on an after-tax (grossed up) basis against certain excise taxes that may arise from such payments being classified as excess parachute payments under Section 280G of the Code.

Charles Boehlke

Charles Boehlke and the company are parties to an employment agreement. The initial term of the change in control and related provisions in the agreement expired in December 2008 and was renewed for an additional three-year term expiring in December 2011. Thereafter, the term automatically renews for successive three-year terms unless terminated by us, in our sole discretion, upon notification to Mr. Boehlke at least eighteen months prior to the end of the then current term.

Mr. Boehlke s employment agreement provides that in the event that his employment is terminated, other than for cause (assuming no change in control as discussed below), Mr. Boehlke shall be entitled to a severance payment in an amount equal to the highest annual base salary he received during his employment with the company and will receive an automobile allowance and healthcare coverage benefits for one year following such termination. We will also retain Mr. Boehlke as a financial consultant for one year from the date of his termination at a rate of \$2,500 per annum. All unexercised equity awards held by Mr. Boehlke which have vested shall expire thirty days after the termination of such consultancy in accordance with the terms of the applicable equity plan.

In the event that Mr. Boehlke's employment is terminated for cause, Mr. Boehlke only shall be entitled to receive any accrued and unpaid base compensation through the date of termination.

The agreement further provides that if within two years after the occurrence of a change in control of the company (as defined in the agreement), (a) we terminate Mr. Boehlke's employment other than for cause or (b) Mr. Boehlke terminates his employment following a material reduction in his duties or reporting responsibilities, annual base salary, status or working conditions, then we shall pay Mr. Boehlke a payment equal to (i) two times his annual base salary in effect immediately before such termination, plus (ii) two times his targeted cash incentive award in effect immediately prior to the termination or change in circumstances, plus (iii) the pro rata portion of his targeted cash incentive award in effect immediately prior to the termination or change in circumstances. As a condition to receiving his severance payment, Mr. Boehlke must execute a general release in favor of the company.

David Sandler 83

The Company has agreed to indemnify Mr. Boehlke on an after-tax (grossed up) basis against certain excise taxes that may arise from such payments being classified as excess parachute payments under Section 280G of the Code.

In addition, if Mr. Boehlke's employment is terminated after the occurrence of a change in control as described above, we shall provide Mr. Boehlke with outplacement services for up to six months and healthcare coverage, if elected by Mr. Boehlke, for up to eighteen months. Mr. Boehlke shall continue to receive, at our expense, the automobile allowance provided under his employment agreement for the lesser of two years and the remainder of the automobile lease in effect following the termination of his employment.

44

Charles Boehlke 84

Thomas Cox and Douglas Jones

Each of Thomas Cox and Douglas Jones has a change of control agreement with the company. The initial term of each agreement expired in December 2008 and was renewed for an additional three-year term expiring in December 2011. Thereafter, the term automatically renews for successive three-year terms unless terminated by us, in our sole discretion, upon notification to the executive at least eighteen months prior to the end of the then current term.

Each agreement provides that if within two years after the occurrence of a change in control of the company (as defined in the respective agreements), (a) we terminate the executive's employment other than for cause or (b) the executive terminates his or her employment following a material reduction in his or her duties or reporting responsibilities, annual base salary, status or working conditions, then we shall pay the executive a payment equal to (i) two times the executive's annual base salary in effect immediately before such termination, plus (ii) two times the executive's targeted cash incentive award in effect immediately prior to the termination or change in circumstances, plus (iii) the pro rata portion of the executive's targeted cash incentive award in effect immediately prior to the termination or change in circumstances. As a condition to receiving his severance payment, the executive must execute a general release in favor of the company.

We have agreed to indemnify each of Mr. Cox and Mr. Jones on an after-tax (grossed up) basis against certain excise taxes that may arise from such payments being classified as excess parachute payments under Section 280G of the Code.

In addition, if the executive s employment is terminated after the occurrence of a change in control as described above, we shall provide the executive with outplacement services for up to six months and healthcare coverage, if elected by the executive, for up to eighteen months. The executive shall continue to receive, at our expense, the automobile allowance provided under his change of control agreement for the lesser of two years and the remainder of the automobile lease in effect following the termination of his or her employment.

Equity Award Plans

The number of unvested equity awards held by each named executive officer as of August 29, 2009 is listed above in the Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year-End table. The outstanding equity awards at the end of fiscal year 2009 were granted to the named executive officers under our 1995 Restricted Stock Plan, 1998 Stock Option Plan, 2001 Stock Option Plan and 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. All of the outstanding stock options under the 1998 Stock Option Plan have already vested and would therefore not be affected by a change in control of the company. The remaining equity plans provide certain benefits to plan participants in the event of the termination of such participant s employment or a change in control of the company. The terms of these benefits are described below. We will not grant any future awards under the 1995 Restricted Stock Plan, 1998 Stock Option Plan or 2001 Stock Option Plan, although we will deliver shares upon the exercise of stock options or the vesting of restricted shares already granted under such plans.

In connection with their long-term incentive awards, the named executive officers are required to sign an agreement containing confidentiality and non-competition provisions designed to protect the Company's confidential and proprietary information and to preserve the Company's competitive advantages.

1995 Restricted Stock Plan

Pursuant to our 1995 Restricted Stock Plan, in the event that the employment of a named executive officer is terminated by reason of death, disability, retirement, or is otherwise terminated without cause, the restrictions on outstanding restricted stock lapse and the shares become fully vested. In the event of a change in control, the restrictions on outstanding restricted stock held by the named executive officers lapse, and all such shares shall become fully vested and transferable.

Under our 1995 Restricted Stock Plan, a change in control will be deemed to have occurred if (i) any person or group is or becomes the beneficial owner of more than 50% of the combined voting power of the company, (ii) individuals who constitute a majority of the members of our Board at any time, along with any persons nominated by a majority of the members of our Board, cease to be a majority of the directors, (iii) the shareholders approve certain mergers or consolidations of the company or (iv) the shareholders approve a plan of liquidation or a plan to dispose of all or substantially all of the company s assets.

2001 Stock Option Plan

Pursuant to our 2001 Stock Option Plan, in the event that the employment of a named executive officer is terminated by reason of death, disability or retirement, all unvested stock options held by the named executive officer become immediately exercisable until the first anniversary of such termination or until the stock options expire by their terms, whichever is shorter. An employee will be deemed to have retired if his or her employment is terminated without cause, death or disability, on or after age 65, provided the employee has a total of five years of service with the company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 2001 Stock Option Plan provides that all of an employee s newsted stock options will become immediately exercisable upon the employee s 62d birthday.

In the event of a change in control, the vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options held by the named executive officers accelerates and becomes immediately exercisable. Under our 2001 Stock Option Plan, a change in control will be deemed to have occurred if (i) any person or group is or becomes the beneficial owner of more than 50% of the combined voting power of the company, (ii) individuals who constitute a majority of the members of our Board at any time, along with any persons nominated by a majority of the members of our Board, cease to be a majority of the directors, (iii) the shareholders approve certain mergers or consolidations of the company or (iv) the shareholders approve a plan of liquidation or a plan to dispose of all or substantially all of the company s assets.

2005 Omnibus Equity Plan

Pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, in the event that the employment of a named executive officer is terminated by reason of death, disability or retirement, all unvested stock options held by the named executive officer become immediately exercisable until the first anniversary of such termination or until the stock options expire by their terms, whichever is shorter. An employee will be deemed to have retired if his or her employment is terminated without cause, death or disability, on or after age 65, provided the employee has a total of five years of service with the company.

In the event of a change in control, the vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options held by each named executive officer will accelerate and become immediately exercisable, the restrictions applicable to all outstanding shares of restricted stock held by the named executive officer will lapse, and all shares of restricted stock shall become fully vested and transferable. However, the vesting of such awards will not accelerate if the agreement that effects the change in control provides for the assumption or substitution of such awards, the continuation of the awards (if the company is the surviving company), or a specified cash payment in exchange for such awards. A change in control of the company will be deemed to have occurred for purposes of the 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan in the same circumstances as described above under the section entitled *Employment and Change in Control Agreements*.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control Table as of August 28, 2009

The following table reflects the estimated amounts payable to each of the named executive officers (other than Mr. Jacobson) upon the termination of his employment under certain circumstances or upon a change in control. These estimates assume that the termination of employment or change in control was effective as of August 28, 2009, the last business day of our 2009 fiscal year, and that the price per share of our common stock on that date was \$39.97. The actual amounts payable can only be calculated at the time of the event. Mr. Jacobson was not eligible for any benefits or other compensation upon the termination of his employment or upon a change in control. None of the named executive officers was eligible for retirement under the terms of our equity grant agreements as of August 29, 2009

Name and Benefits	Involuntary Termination Without Cause (\$)(1)	Change in Control (\$) ⁽²⁾	Change in Control and Termination (\$) ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	Death or Disability (\$) ⁽⁵⁾
David Sandler				
Severance		1,200,000	10,722,000	
Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options		716,430	716,430	323,430
Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock		2,311,892	2,311,892	2,185,959
Total		4,228,322	13,750,322	2,509,389
Charles Boehlke				
Severance	462,594		925,188	
Auto Allowance	10,144		20,287	
Outplacement Services			25,000	
Medical Benefits	7,238		10,857	
Financial Consulting Fee	2,500			
Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options		207,260	207,260	102,460
Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock		1,416,160	1,416,160	1,339,195
Total	482,476	1,623,420	2,604,752	1,441,655
Thomas Cox				
Severance			638,090	
Auto Allowance			28,800	
Outplacement Services			25,000	
Medical Benefits			25,285	
Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options		196,550	196,550	91,750
Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock		929,798	929,798	877,421
Total		1,126,348	1,843,523	969,171
Douglas Jones				
Severance			616,000	
Auto Allowance			21,389	
Outplacement Services			25,000	

Medical Benefits		25,285	
Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options	98,905	98,905	46,505
Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock	493,479	493,479	466,530
Total	592,384	1,280,058	513,035

The amounts in this column reflect estimated amounts payable upon the involuntary termination of employment of Mr. Boehlke without cause, in accordance with the terms of Mr. Boehlke's employment agreement.

The severance amount in this column for Mr. Sandler reflects the estimated amount payable to Mr. Sandler upon a change in control of the company, in accordance with the terms of Mr. Sandler s change in control agreement. The estimated values of the accelerated stock options and restricted stock listed in this column for each of the named

- (2) executive officers, in accordance with the terms of our equity incentive plans, are based on the highest reported sales price of a share of our Class A common stock during the 60 days prior to, and including, August 28, 2009, which was \$42.59, as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on August 7, 2009 for grants made pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan and based on the closing price on August 28, 2009, which was \$39.97, for grants made pursuant to our prior equity incentive plans.
 - Each of the named executive officers executed a confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreement under which each executive agreed not to use or disclose any confidential information relating to the company
- (3) during the executive's employment and after termination. Each executive also agreed not to compete with the company or to solicit any employees of the company during his or her employment and for two years following termination of his or her employment. All payments under the change in control arrangements are contingent on the executives complying with the foregoing obligations and executing a general release in favor of the company. The amounts in this column reflect estimated amounts payable upon the occurrence of (i) a change of control of the company, in accordance with the terms of our equity incentive plans and (ii) the termination of employment of the named executive officers within a certain period following such change in control, (a) by the company, without cause or (b) by the officer, following a change of such officer's circumstances at the company. The estimated
- (4) values of the accelerated stock options and restricted stock listed in this column for each of the named executive officers are based on the highest reported sales price of a share of our Class A common stock during the 60 days prior to, and including, August 28, 2009, which was \$42.59, as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on August 7, 2009 for grants made pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan and based on the closing price on August 28, 2009, which was \$39.97, for grants made pursuant to our prior equity incentive plans.
- The amounts in this column reflect estimated amounts payable upon the death or disability of a named executive officer under the terms of our equity incentive plans. The estimated values of the accelerated stock options and restricted stock listed in this column are based on the closing price of a share of our Class A common stock as

reported on the New York Stock Exchange on August 28, 2009, which was \$39.97.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations with respect to the compensation of our non-employee directors. The committee s policy is to engage a compensation consultant every year to conduct a full review and benchmarking of the non-employee directors compensation in order to ensure that our directors compensation is in line with peer companies competing for director talent. In fiscal year 2009, the committee engaged F.W. Cook as its compensation consultant.

The key objective of our non-employee directors' compensation program is to attract and retain highly qualified directors with the necessary skills, experience and character to oversee our management. In addition, our compensation program is designed to align the interests of our Board with the long-term interests of our shareholders. The compensation program is also designed to recognize the time commitment, expertise and potential liability required of active Board membership. We compensate our non-employee directors with a mix of cash and equity-based compensation. Directors who are also employees of the company do not receive any compensation for their service on our Board.

For the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009, we paid each non-employee director the following compensation:

a retainer per director for service on our Board of \$42,000 per year; a fee for attendance at a Board meeting of \$2,000 per meeting; a fee for attendance at a committee meeting of \$1,700 per meeting; an additional retainer for the chairman of each of the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of \$5,000 per year; and

an annual grant of restricted shares of our Class A common stock consisting of such number of shares having an aggregate fair market value of \$80,000 on the date of grant to each director upon his or her election or reelection to our Board; 50% of these shares vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 50% vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant.

Pursuant to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan, in the event that a director ceases to provide services to the company by virtue of his or her death, disability or retirement, all unvested stock options held by the director become immediately exercisable until the first anniversary of such termination or until the stock options expire by their terms, whichever is shorter. In addition, in the event of a change in control of the company, the vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options held by each director will accelerate and become immediately exercisable, the restrictions applicable to all outstanding shares of restricted stock held by the director will lapse, and all shares of restricted stock shall become fully vested and transferable. However, the vesting of such awards will not accelerate if the agreement that effects the change in control provides for the assumption or substitution of such awards, the continuation of the awards (if the company is the surviving company), or a specified cash payment in exchange for such awards. A change in control of the company will be deemed to have occurred for purposes of the 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan in the same circumstances as described above under the section entitled *Executive Compensation Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control Employment and Change in Control Agreements*.

Director compensation is paid quarterly in arrears. The cash compensation of directors who serve less than a full quarter is pro-rated for the number of days actually served. Directors who are appointed between annual shareholder meetings receive a pro-rated equity award upon appointment to our Board. In addition, we reimburse our non-employee directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending in-person board or committee meetings and for fees incurred in attending continuing education courses for directors that are approved in advance by the company.

The following table presents the compensation paid to our non-employee directors in respect of fiscal year 2009 for their services as directors. Messrs. Mitchell Jacobson, Charles Boehlke and David Sandler, who are employees of the company, did not receive compensation for their services as directors of the company.

Non-Employee Director Summary Compensation in Fiscal Year 2009

Name of Director	Fees Earned in Cash (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Stock Awards (\$) ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	Option Awards (\$) ⁽²⁾	Total (\$)
Roger Fradin ⁽⁴⁾	84,600	25,995	39,795	150,390
Louise Goeser ⁽⁴⁾	47,015	25,995		73,010
Denis Kelly ⁽⁴⁾	100,600	25,995	39,795	166,390
Philip Peller ⁽⁴⁾	95,600	25,995	39,795	161,390

(1) Reflects cash retainers, committee meeting fees and board meeting fees earned by our non-employee directors for services provided during fiscal year 2009.

The amounts in this column do not reflect compensation actually received by our non-employee directors nor do they reflect the actual value that will be recognized by the non-employee directors. Instead, the amounts reflect the compensation expense for stock option grants and restricted share awards recognized for financial reporting purposes (exclusive of any assumptions for forfeitures) under FAS 123R for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009

- (2) and prior fiscal years. For information regarding assumptions made in calculating the amounts reflected in this column for grants made in fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009, please refer to Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 29, 2009. For information regarding assumptions made in calculating the amounts reflected in this column for grants made prior to fiscal year 2007, see Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the respective fiscal years.
- On January 7, 2009, each director named above was granted 2,238 restricted shares of our Class A common stock with a grant date fair value under FAS 123R of \$35.74 per share for each director. The grant date fair values of the January 7, 2009 grants were calculated using the closing market price of our Class A common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on January 7, 2009. The fair value of each director's January 7, 2009 grant was
 - \$79,986. These amounts reflect our accounting expense, and do not correspond to the actual value that will be recognized by the non-employee directors.
- The table below shows the aggregate number of vested and unvested stock options and unvested restricted share awards held by our non-employee directors as of August 29, 2009.

	Stock Options	Stock Awards
Name of Director	(in Number of	(in Number of
	Shares)	Shares)
Roger Fradin	35,000	2,238
Louise Goeser		2,238
Denis Kelly	25,000	2,238
Philip Peller	29,884	2,238

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Written Related Person Transactions Policy

We have adopted a written related person transactions policy detailing the policies and procedures relating to transactions that may present actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest and may raise questions as to whether such transactions are consistent with the best interest of the company and our shareholders. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee must review and approve any related person transaction proposed to be entered into and if appropriate, ratify any such transaction previously commenced and ongoing. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may delegate its authority under the policy to the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, who may act alone. The Chairman will report to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee at the next meeting any approval made pursuant to such delegated authority. Based on its consideration of all of the relevant facts and circumstances, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will decide whether or not to approve any related person transaction.

Under our related person transactions policy, any relationship, arrangement or transaction between the company and (a) any director, executive officer or any immediate family member of either a director or an executive officer, (b) any beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class A common stock or (c) any entity in which any of the foregoing is employed or is a partner, principal or owner of a 5% or more ownership interest, is deemed a related person transaction, subject to certain exceptions, including (i) transactions available to all employees generally, (ii) transactions involving less than \$25,000 in any 12-month period when aggregated with all similar transactions during such period, (iii) transactions involving executive compensation approved by our Compensation Committee or director compensation approved by our Board and (iv) certain charitable contributions.

Related Person Transactions

Other than compensation agreements and other arrangements described under the sections entitled *Executive*Compensation beginning on page 37 of this proxy statement and *Director Compensation* beginning on page 49 of this proxy statement and the transactions described below, since the beginning of fiscal year 2009, there has not been, nor is there currently proposed, any transaction or series of similar transactions to which we have been or will be a participant:

in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000; and in which any director, nominee, executive officer, holder of more than 5% of our Class A common stock or our Class B common stock or any member of their immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Employment of Erik Gershwind

Erik Gershwind, the nephew of Mitchell Jacobson (Chairman of our Board) and the son of Marjorie Gershwind (Mr. Jacobson's sister), is employed as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Jacobson and Ms. Gershwind are also principal shareholders of the company. In fiscal year 2009, Mr. Gershwind was compensated with a base salary of \$254,404. In addition, on October 16, 2008, as part of the company s annual equity award grants for fiscal 2008, Mr. Gershwind received a stock award of 3,283 restricted shares of our Class A common stock, with a total aggregate fair market value of \$124,984 on the date of grant, and a grant of 18,000 options to purchase shares of our Class A common stock at an exercise price of \$38.07 per share, and a Black-Scholes value of \$10.05 per share. In

fiscal year 2009, Mr. Gershwind also received \$112,956 as compensation for fiscal year 2008 under our annual cash incentive awards program and is generally entitled to participate in all of the employee benefit plans available to our executives.

Mr. Gershwind s current annual base salary is \$256,237 per annum. On October 13, 2009, as part of the company s annual equity award grants for fiscal 2009, Mr. Gershwind received a stock award of 3,192 restricted shares of our Class A common stock, with a total aggregate fair market value of \$140,991 on the date of grant, and a grant of 18,928 options to purchase shares of our Class A common stock at an exercise price of \$44.17 per share, and a Black-Scholes value of \$12.49 per share. Mr. Gershwind also received \$4,928 as part of a special payment in the amount of one week s base salary, which was made to all company

employees, in recognition of the collective efforts of the company s employees on behalf of the company in a difficult economic environment. In addition, Mr. Gershwind will participate in our annual cash incentive bonus program for fiscal year 2010.

Real Estate Affiliate Transactions

We are affiliated with two real estate entities, which we refer to as the real estate affiliates. The real estate affiliates are owned and controlled by our principal shareholders, Mitchell Jacobson, our Chairman, and his sister, Marjorie Gershwind and by their family related trusts.

One real estate affiliate leases a distribution center located in Atlanta, Georgia to Sid Tool, our operating subsidiary. The original square footage of the distribution center was approximately 529,000 square feet. The terms of the lease agreement were independently determined to be at fair market value at the time we entered into the lease. On April 1, 2008, we and the landlord entered into an amendment to the lease, which provided for a 172,000 square foot expansion of this facility and an extension of the lease term until 2030. Based on local market terms and data compiled by an independent real estate consultant, we believe the lease amendment to be on arm s length terms. The total rent paid by Sid Tool under the foregoing lease agreement was approximately \$2,227,688 in fiscal year 2009. The aggregate rent to be paid by Sid Tool under the remaining lease term is approximately \$50,385,630, including approximately \$2,237,170 to be paid in fiscal year 2010.

Another real estate affiliate leases to Sid Tool a branch office located in Pawtucket, Rhode Island with square footage of approximately 9,000 square feet. The rent paid by Sid Tool was \$73,080 in fiscal year 2009. The aggregate rent to be paid by Sid Tool under the remaining lease term, which expires in fiscal 2010, is \$60,900, to be paid in fiscal year 2010. We believe that the terms of the foregoing arrangement are at least as favorable to the company as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties at the time the lease was entered into.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

Information for our equity compensation plans in effect as of August 29, 2009 is as follows:

			Number of	
	Number of		Securities Remaining	
	Securities to Be Issued	Weighted-Ave Exercise	Remaining erage Available for	
	Upon	Price of	Future Issuance Under Equity	
Plan Category	Exercise of	Outstanding Options,	Compensation	
	Outstanding Options,	Warrants and	Plans	
	Warrants and	Rights	(Excluding Securities	
	Rights (a)	(b)	Reflected in	
	(4)		Column (a)) (c)	
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:				
Equity Compensation Plans (excluding Associate Stock Purchase Plan)	2,759,000	\$ 33.65	987,000 (1)	
Associate Stock Purchase Plan			380,000	
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders				
Total	2,759,000	\$ 33.65	1,367,000	

Represents shares available for future issuance under our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan. Such shares may become subject to stock option grants or stock appreciation rights or may be issued directly as stock awards with such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and other limitations as determined by the plan administrator.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information set forth in the following tables is furnished as of October 30, 2009, except as otherwise noted, regarding the beneficial ownership of our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock by:

each shareholder known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock;

our President and Chief Executive Officer; our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; each director and nominee for director of the company;

each of our three most highly compensated executive officers (other than the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer) who were serving as such at the end of the last fiscal year; and

all directors, nominees for director and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC that deem shares to be beneficially owned by any person who has voting or investment power with respect to such shares. Shares of Class A common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009 are deemed to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. In addition, since all of the shares of Class B common stock are convertible at the option of the holder into Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis, the beneficial owner of shares of Class B common stock is deemed to be a beneficial owner of the same number of shares of Class A common stock. In indicating below the amount and nature of a person s beneficial ownership of Class A common stock and the percentage of the class owned by such person, it has been assumed that such person has converted into Class A common stock all shares of Class B common stock of which such person is a beneficial owner. Furthermore, such shares of Class A common stock are deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the beneficial owner, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

In the tables below, percentage ownership is based on 44,647,778 shares of our Class A common stock and 18,389,874 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as of October 30, 2009. Except as otherwise indicated, the persons listed in the tables below have advised us that they have sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares listed as owned by them.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

	Class A Common Stock Amount &		Class B Common Stock Amount &		Percent
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Nature of		Nature of	Percent	Voting
	Beneficial Ownership	of Class	Beneficial Ownership	of Class	Power ⁽¹⁾
T. Rowe Price ⁽²⁾	3,647,000	8.2 %	Ownership		1.6 %
Entities associated with Lone Pine Capital LLC ⁽³⁾	3,006,797	6.7 %			1.3 %
Capital World Investors ⁽⁴⁾	2,906,000	6.5 %			1.3 %
Royce & Associates, LLC ⁽⁵⁾	2,256,470	5.1 %			*
Mitchell Jacobson ⁽⁶⁾	11,567,321(8)	20.7%	11,250,706 ⁽⁹⁾	61.2%	49.3%
Marjorie Gershwind ⁽⁷⁾	3,930,292 (10)	8.2 %	3,383,441 (11)	18.4%	15.0%
Erik Gershwind ⁽⁶⁾	1,467,886 (12)	3.2 %	1,311,464	7.1 %	5.8 %
Stacey Bennett ⁽⁷⁾	1,315,272 (13)	2.9 %	1,311,463	7.1 %	5.7 %
Trust under Trust Agreement Dated September 12, 2005 ⁽⁷⁾	1,132,800 (14)	2.5 %	1,132,800	6.2 %	5.0 %

Less than 1%

Voting power represents the combined voting power of Class A common stock and Class B common stock owned beneficially by such person. On all matters to be voted upon at the annual meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the holders of the Class A common stock and the Class B common stock vote together as a single class, with each record holder of Class A common stock entitled to one vote per share of Class A common stock and each record holder of Class B common stock entitled to ten votes per share of Class B common stock. For the purpose of calculating the voting power of each beneficial owner, shares of Class A common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009 have been excluded and shares of Class B common stock are included on a non-converted basis only.

- Based on information supplied by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 10, 2009. The address of T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. is 100 E. Pratt Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. T. Rowe Price is deemed to have sole voting power over 600,000 of the shares and sole dispositive power over 3,647,000 of these shares.
- (3) Based on information supplied by Lone Pine Capital LLC in an amended Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 13, 2009 and Forms 4 filed with the SEC on January 7, 2009 and January 15, 2009. The address of Lone Pine Capital LLC and the associated entities is Two Greenwich Plaza, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830. Lone Spruce, L.P. is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 30,246 of these shares; Lone Balsam, L.P. is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 66,371 of these shares; Lone Sequoia, L.P. is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 1,366,507 of these shares; Lone Sierra, L.P. is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 68,246 of these shares; Lone Pine Associates LLC is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 152,065 of these shares; Lone Pine Members LLC is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 1,434,753 of these shares; Lone Pine Capital LLC is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 1,419,979 of these shares; and Stephen F. Mandel, Jr. is deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over 3,006,797 of these shares. Stephen F. Mandel, Jr. is the Managing Member of (i) Lone Pine Associates LLC, which is the general partner of Lone Spruce, L.P., Lone Balsam, L.P. and Lone

Sequoia, L.P., (ii) Lone Pine Members LLC, which is the general partner of Lone Cascade, L.P. and Lone Sierra, L.P., and (iii) Lone Pine Capital LLC.

Based on information supplied by Capital World Investors, a division of Capital Research and Management

- (4) Company, in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 12, 2009. The address of Capital World Investors is 333 South Hope Street, Los Angeles, California 90071.
- (5) Based on information supplied by Royce & Associates, LLC in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on January 26, 2009. The address of Royce & Associates, LLC is 1414 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10019.

- (6) This beneficial owner's address is c/o MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747.
- (7) This beneficial owner's address is c/o Jacobson Family Investments, Inc., Carnegie Hall Tower, 152 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.
 - This number includes (a) 71,591 shares of Class A common stock held by a trust in which Mr. Jacobson s spouse is a co-trustee; (b) 74,495 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Jacobson of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009; and (c) 11,250,706 shares
- (8) of Class B common stock, which are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time, and which are discussed in more detail in footnote 9 below. Mr. Jacobson disclaims beneficial ownership of 71,591 of the shares of Class A common stock and all of the shares of Class B common stock, which are held by various trusts.
- This number includes 1,676,048 shares of Class B common stock, which may be deemed to be beneficially owned (9) indirectly by Mr. Jacobson as settlor of a trust, of which Mr. Jacobson s spouse is a co-trustee. Mr. Jacobson disclaims beneficial ownership of all of the shares of Class B common stock, which are held by various trusts. This number includes 3,383,441 shares of Class B common stock, which are convertible into shares of our Class
- (10) A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time, and which are discussed in more detail in footnote 11 below. Ms. Gershwind disclaims beneficial ownership of 122,400 of the shares of Class A common stock and all of the shares of Class B common stock, which in each case are held by various trusts.
- (11) Ms. Gershwind disclaims beneficial ownership of all of the shares of Class B common stock, which are held by various trusts.
 - This number includes (a) 71,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Gershwind of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009; (b) 39,761 shares
- (12) of Class B common stock, which are held by a trust of which Mr. Gershwind is a co-trustee; and (c) 1,271,703 shares of Class B common stock owned directly by Mr. Gershwind, which are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time.
- This number includes (a) 39,760 shares of Class B common stock, which are held by a trust of which Ms. Bennett (13) is a trustee; and (b) 1,271,703 shares of Class B common stock owned directly by Ms. Bennett, which are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time.
 - This number includes 1,132,800 shares of Class B common stock owned directly by the Trust under Trust
- (14) Agreement dated September 12, 2005, which are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time.

Security Ownership of Management

The address of each individual named below is as follows: c/o MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747. All fractional shares reported in the table below have been rounded to the nearest whole share.

	Class A Common Sto Amount & Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent	Class B Common Stock Amount & Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class	Percent Voting Power ⁽¹⁾
Mitchell Jacobson	11,567,321	20.7%	11,250,706(3)	61.2%	49.3%
David Sandler	415,623	*)			*
Charles Boehlke	226,104	*			*
Roger Fradin	76,738) *			*
Louise Goeser	2,238	*			*
Denis Kelly	41,454	') *			*
Philip Peller	31,476	s) *			*
Thomas Cox	129,642) *			*
Douglas Jones	86,260	0) *			*
All directors, nominees for director and executive officers as a group (fourteen persons)	14,197,397	1) 24.4%	12,562,170 ⁽¹²⁾	68.3%	55.7%

* Less than 1%

Voting power represents the combined voting power of Class A common stock and Class B common stock owned beneficially by such person. On all matters to be voted upon at the annual meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the holders of the Class A common stock and the Class B common stock vote together as a single class, with each record holder of Class A common stock entitled to one vote per share of Class A common (1)

- stock and each record holder of Class B common stock entitled to ten votes per share of Class B common stock. For the purpose of calculating the voting power of each beneficial owner, shares of Class A common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009 have been excluded and shares of Class B common stock are included on a non-converted basis only.
- See footnote No. 8 to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners table, located on page <u>56</u> of this proxy statement.
- (3) See footnote No. 9 to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners table, located on page <u>56</u> of this proxy statement.
- (4) Includes 294,696 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Sandler of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (5) Includes 161,592 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Boehlke of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (6) Includes 32,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Fradin of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (7) Includes 22,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Kelly of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.

- (8) Includes 27,384 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Peller of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (9) Includes 105,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Cox of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (10) Includes 62,400 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise by Mr. Jones of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009.
- (11) Includes 960,692 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are presently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 30, 2009. Also includes 12,562,170 shares

Security Ownership of Management

of Class B common stock beneficially owned or which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Jacobson, our Chairman of the Board, or Mr. Erik Gershwind, our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, which are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at any time. See also footnotes Nos. 8 and 12 to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners table, located on page <u>56</u> of this proxy statement. All of the shares of Class A common stock with respect to which our directors, director nominees and named executive officers share voting or investment power are described above. In addition, one of our other executive officers shares voting and investment power over 4,000 of the shares of Class A common stock.

Includes shares of Class B common stock beneficially owned or which may be deemed to be beneficially owned (12) by Mr. Jacobson or Mr. Gershwind. See also footnote No. 9 to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners table, located on page <u>56</u> of this proxy statement.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT ANNUAL MEETING

Proposals of shareholders submitted under SEC Rule 14a-8 and intended for inclusion in our proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders in 2011 must be received by us no later than August 16, 2010. Any such shareholder proposals may be included in our proxy statement for the 2011 annual meeting of shareholders so long as they are provided to us on a timely basis and satisfy the other conditions set forth in the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. For shareholder proposals submitted outside the processes of SEC Rule 14a-8 which are not included in our proxy statement and which may properly be presented for consideration at our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders, and in accordance with SEC Rule 14a-4(c), the proxy or proxies designated by us will have discretionary authority to vote on any such matter unless notice of the matter is received by us not later than October 30, 2010. Shareholder proposals should be directed to our Corporate Secretary, at the address of the company set forth on the first page of this proxy statement.

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SHAREHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

Copies of our 2009 annual report to shareholders are being mailed simultaneously with this proxy statement. If you are a registered shareholder and want to save us the cost of mailing more than one annual report to the same address, we will discontinue, at your request to the Corporate Secretary of the company, mailing of the duplicate copy to the account or accounts you select. Beneficial owners sharing an address who are receiving multiple copies of proxy materials and annual reports and who wish to receive a single copy of such materials in the future will need to contact their broker, bank or other nominee to request that only a single copy of each document be mailed to all shareholders at the shared address.

If you are the beneficial owner, but not the record holder, of shares of our Class A common stock, your broker, bank or other nominee may deliver only one copy of this proxy statement and our 2009 annual report to multiple shareholders who share an address, unless that nominee has received contrary instructions from one or more of the shareholders. We will deliver promptly, upon written or oral request, a separate copy of this proxy statement and our 2009 annual report to a shareholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the documents was delivered. A shareholder who wishes to receive a separate copy of the proxy statement and annual report, now or in the future, should submit this request by writing to Corporate Secretary, MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747, or calling (516) 812-2000.

OTHER MATTERS

We will provide to each shareholder, without charge and upon written request, a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K and any exhibit thereto. Any such written request should be directed to the office of our Chief Financial Officer, c/o MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., 75 Maxess Road, Melville, New York 11747.

It is important that your shares be represented at the meeting, regardless of the number of shares which you hold. We urge you to execute promptly and return the accompanying proxy card in the envelope which has been enclosed for your convenience.

OTHER MATTERS 105

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Steve Armstrong Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

> Melville, New York December 4, 2009

59

OTHER MATTERS 106

MSC INDUSTRIAL DIRECT CO., INC. 2005 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN

As adopted January 3, 2006 and amended through January 14, 2010

1. ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE.

The MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc. 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan (the *Plan*) is established by MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc., a New York corporation (the *Company*), to attract and retain persons eligible to participate in the Plan; motivate Participants to achieve long-term Company goals; and further align Participants interests with those of the Company s other stockholders. The Plan is adopted as of November 23, 2005, subject to approval by the Company s stockholders within 12 months after such adoption date. No Awards that are settled in Stock shall be granted hereunder prior to the approval of the Plan by the Company s stockholders. Unless the Plan is discontinued earlier by the Board as provided herein, no Award shall be granted hereunder on or after the date 10 years after the Effective Date. The Plan shall terminate on January 3, 2016 or such earlier time as the Board may determine.

Certain terms used herein are defined as set forth in Section 10.

2. ADMINISTRATION; ELIGIBILITY.

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee, or such other Committee, appointed by the Board consisting of three (3) or more members of the Board all of whom are intended to be non-employee directors within the meaning of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the regulations promulgated thereunder and outside directors within the contemplation of Section 162(m) of the Code; *provided, however*, that, if at any time no Compensation Committee or other Committee has been appointed or is eligible to act in the circumstances, the Plan shall be administered by the Board. The Plan may be administered by different Committees with respect to different groups of Eligible Individuals. As used herein, the term *Administrator* means the Board, the Compensation Committee or any of the Board s other Committees as shall be administering the Plan. A majority of the members of the Compensation Committee, such other Committee or the Board, as applicable, shall constitute a quorum, and all determinations shall be made by a majority of the members thereof.

The Administrator shall have plenary authority to grant Awards pursuant to the terms of the Plan to Eligible Individuals. Participation shall be limited to such persons as are selected by the Administrator. Subject to Section 409A of the Code, awards may be granted as alternatives to, in exchange or substitution for, or replacement of, awards outstanding under the Plan or any other plan or arrangement of the Company or a Subsidiary (including a plan or arrangement of a business or entity, all or a portion of which is acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary). The provisions of Awards need not be the same with respect to each Participant.

Among other things, the Administrator shall have the authority, subject to the terms of the Plan:

- (a) to select the Eligible Individuals to whom Awards may from time to time be granted; to determine whether and to what extent Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Stock Awards or any combination thereof are to be granted hereunder;
 - (c) to determine the number of shares of Stock to be covered by each Award granted hereunder;

- (d) to approve forms of agreement for use under the Plan; to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, of any Award granted hereunder (including, but not limited to, the option price, any vesting restriction or limitation, any vesting acceleration or
- (e) waiver of forfeiture, and any right of repurchase, right of first refusal or other transfer restriction regarding any Award and the shares of Stock relating thereto, based on such factors or criteria as the Administrator shall determine);
- subject to Section 9(a), to modify, amend or adjust the terms and conditions of any Award, at any time or from time to time, including, but not limited to, with respect to (i) performance goals and targets applicable to performance based Awards pursuant to the terms of the Plan and (ii) extension of the post-termination exercisability period of Stock Options;

A-1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(g) to determine to what extent and under what circumstances Stock and other amounts payable with respect to an Award shall be deferred;

(h) to determine the Fair Market Value; and

(i) to determine the type and amount of consideration to be received by the Company for any Stock Award issued under Section 6.

The Administrator shall have the authority to adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices governing the Plan as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable, to interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan and any Award issued under the Plan (and any agreement relating thereto) and to otherwise supervise the administration of the Plan.

Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law, the Administrator may allocate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers to any one or more of its members and may delegate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers to any other person or persons selected by it. Any such allocation or delegation may be revoked by the Administrator at any time. The Administrator may authorize any one or more of their members or any officer of the Company to execute and deliver documents on behalf of the Administrator.

Any determination made by the Administrator or pursuant to delegated authority pursuant to the provisions of the Plan with respect to any Award shall be made in the sole discretion of the Administrator or such delegate at the time of the grant of the Award or, unless in contravention of any express term of the Plan, at any time thereafter. All decisions made by the Administrator or any appropriately delegated officer pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall be final and binding on all persons, including the Company and Participants.

No member of the Administrator, and no officer of the Company, shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by such individual or by any other member of the Administrator or officer of the Company in connection with the performance of duties under this Plan, except for such individual s own willful misconduct or as expressly provided by law.

3. STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN.

Subject to adjustment as provided in this Section 3, the aggregate number of shares of Stock which may be delivered under the Plan shall not exceed 6,200,000 shares.

To the extent any shares of Stock covered by an Award are not delivered to a Participant or beneficiary thereof because the Award expires, is forfeited, lapses without exercise, canceled or otherwise terminated, or the shares of Stock are not delivered because the Award is settled in cash or are used to satisfy the applicable tax withholding obligation, such shares shall not be deemed to have been delivered for purposes of determining the maximum number of shares of Stock available for delivery under the Plan with respect to, and shall be available for, future grants of Awards.

Subject to adjustment as provided in this Section 3, the maximum number of shares that may be covered by Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights and Stock Awards, in the aggregate, granted to any one Participant during any calendar year shall be 400,000 shares.

In the event of any Company stock dividend, special cash dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the Company, corporate separation or division of the Company (including, but not limited to, a split-up, spin-off, split-off or other distribution to Company stockholders, other than a normal cash dividend), sale by the Company of all or a substantial portion of its assets (measured on either a stand-alone or consolidated basis), reorganization, rights offering, partial or complete liquidation, merger or consolidation in which the Company is the surviving corporation, or any other corporate transaction, Company share

offering or other event involving the Company and having an effect similar to any of the foregoing, the Administrator may make such substitution or adjustments in the (a) number and kind of shares that may be delivered under the Plan, (b) additional maximums imposed in the immediately preceding paragraph, (c) number and kind of shares subject to outstanding Awards, (d) exercise price of outstanding Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights and (e) other characteristics or terms of the

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Awards as it may determine appropriate in its sole discretion to equitably reflect such corporate transaction, share offering or other event; *provided*, *however*, that the number of shares subject to any Award shall always be a whole number.

In the event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or a merger, reorganization or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving corporation, then, except as otherwise provided herein and/or in the discretion of the Administrator, each Stock Option, to the extent not theretofore exercised, shall terminate forthwith.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment shall be made pursuant to this Section 3 to the extent that such adjustment would violate Section 409A of the Code.

4. STOCK OPTIONS.

Stock Options may be granted alone or in addition to other Awards granted under the Plan and may be of two types: Incentive Stock Options and Non-Qualified Stock Options. Any Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be in such form as the Administrator may from time to time approve.

The Administrator shall have the authority to grant any Participant Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options or both types of Stock Options. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code). To the extent that any Stock Option is not designated as an Incentive Stock Option or, even if so designated, does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option, it shall constitute a Non-Qualified Stock Option. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only within 10 years from the date the Plan is adopted, or the date the Plan is approved by the Company s stockholders, whichever is earlier.

Stock Options shall be evidenced by option agreements, each in a form approved by the Administrator. An option agreement shall indicate on its face whether it is intended to be an agreement for an Incentive Stock Option or a Non-Qualified Stock Option. The grant of a Stock Option shall occur as of the date the Administrator determines, subject to FASB Statement 123(R) and guidance thereunder.

Anything in the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no term of the Plan relating to Incentive Stock Options shall be interpreted, amended or altered, nor shall any discretion or authority granted under the Plan be exercised, so as to disqualify the Plan under Section 422 of the Code or, without the consent of the Optionee affected, to disqualify any Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code.

To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by a Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its subsidiaries within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code) exceeds \$100,000, such Stock Options shall be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options.

Stock Options granted under this Section 4 shall be subject to the following terms and conditions and shall contain such additional terms and conditions as the Administrator shall deem desirable:

Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of Stock purchasable under a Stock Option shall be determined by the Administrator at the time of grant; *provided*, *however*, that the exercise price per share shall be not less than the

- (a) Fair Market Value per share on the date the Stock Option is granted, or in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to an individual who is a Ten Percent Holder, not less than 110% of such Fair Market Value per share on the date the Stock Option is granted.
- (b) *Option Term*. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Administrator at the time of grant, but no Incentive Stock Option shall be exercisable more than 10 years (or five years in the case of an individual who is a

Ten Percent Holder) after the date the Incentive Stock Option is granted.

Vesting. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable option agreement, an Optionee may not exercise a Stock Option during the period commencing on the date of the grant of such Stock Option to him or her and ending on the day immediately preceding the first anniversary of such date. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable option agreement, an Optionee may (i) during the period commencing on the first anniversary of the date of the grant of a Stock Option to him or her and ending on the day immediately preceding the second anniversary of such date, exercise such

Stock Option with respect to one-fourth of the shares granted thereby; (ii) during the period commencing on the second anniversary of the date of such grant and ending on the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of the date of such grant, exercise such Stock Option with respect to one-half of the shares granted thereby; (iii) during the period commencing on the third anniversary of the date of such grant and ending on the day immediately preceding the fourth anniversary of such date, exercise such Stock Option with respect to three-fourths of the shares granted thereby and (iv) during the period commencing on the fourth anniversary of the date of such grant and ending at the time the Stock Option expires pursuant to the terms of the Plan, exercise such Stock Option with respect to all of the shares granted thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Stock Option shall be fully vested prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Option, provided that Stock Options granted to non-employee directors of the Company may be fully vested by the second anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Option.

Exercisability. Except as otherwise provided herein, Stock Options shall be subject to such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and limitations, if any, as shall be determined by the Administrator. If any Stock Option is exercisable only in installments, the Administrator may at any time waive such installment exercise provisions, in whole or in part, based on such factors as the Administrator

- (d) may determine. In addition, the Administrator may at any time, in whole or in part, accelerate the exercisability of any Stock Option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Stock Option shall be fully exercisable prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Option, provided that Stock Options granted to non-employee Directors of the Company may be fully exercisable by the second anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Option.
- (e) Method of Exercise. Stock Options may be exercised, in whole or in part, by giving written notice of exercise to the Company specifying the number of shares of Stock subject to the Stock Option to be purchased.

 The option price of any Stock Option shall be paid in full in cash (by certified or bank check or such other instrument as the Company may accept) or, unless otherwise provided in the applicable option agreement, by one or more of the following: (i) in the form of mature shares of unrestricted Stock already owned by the Optionee, based on the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the date the Stock Option is exercised; (ii) by certifying ownership of shares of mature Stock owned by the Optionee to the satisfaction of the Administrator for later delivery to the Company as specified by the Company; (iii) unless otherwise prohibited by law for either the Company or the Optionee, by irrevocably authorizing a third party to sell shares of Stock (or a sufficient portion of the shares) acquired upon exercise of the Stock Option and remit to the Company a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the entire exercise price and any tax withholding resulting from such exercise; or (iv) by any combination of cash and/or any one or more of the methods specified in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii). Notwithstanding the foregoing, a form of payment shall not be permitted to the extent it would cause the Company to recognize a compensation expense (or additional compensation expense) with respect to the Stock Option for financial reporting purposes.

If payment of the option exercise price of a Non-Qualified Stock Option is made in whole or in part in the form of Restricted Stock, the number of shares of Stock to be received upon such exercise equal to the number of shares of Restricted Stock used for payment of the option exercise price shall be subject to the same forfeiture restrictions to which such Restricted Stock was subject, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator.

No shares of Stock shall be issued upon exercise of a Stock Option until full payment therefor has been made. Upon exercise of a Stock Option (or a portion thereof), the Company shall have a reasonable time to issue the Stock for which the Stock Option has been exercised, and the Optionee shall not be treated as a stockholder for any purposes whatsoever prior to such issuance. No adjustment shall be made for cash dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to the date such Stock is recorded as issued and transferred in the Company s official stockholder records, except as otherwise provided herein or in the applicable option agreement.

Transferability of Stock Options. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable option agreement, a Non-Qualified Stock Option (i) shall be transferable by the Optionee to a Family Member of the Optionee, provided that (A) any such transfer shall be by gift with no consideration and (B) no subsequent transfer of such Stock Option shall be permitted other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and (ii) shall not otherwise be transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution. An Incentive Stock Option shall not be transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution. A Stock Option shall be exercisable, during

- (f) the Optionee s lifetime, only by the Optionee or by the guardian or legal representative of the Optionee, it being understood that the terms holder and *Optionee* include the guardian and legal representative of the Optionee named in the applicable option agreement and any person to whom the Stock Option is transferred (X) pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 4(f) or pursuant to the applicable option agreement or (Y) by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, references herein to the termination of an Optionee s employment or provision of services shall mean the termination of employment or provision of services of the person to whom the Stock Option was originally granted.
- Termination by Death. If an Optionee s employment or provision of services terminates by reason of death, any (g) Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be exercised for a period of one year from the date of such
 - death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter.

 Termination by Reason of Disability. If an Optionee s employment or provision of services terminates by reason of
- (h) Disability, any Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee for a period of one year from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter.
- Termination by Reason of Retirement. If an Optionee s employment or provision of services terminates by reason of Retirement, any Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee for a period of one year from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the
- one year from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter.
- Involuntary Termination Without Cause. If an Optionee s employment or provision of services terminates involuntarily without Cause, and for reasons other than death, Disability or Retirement, any Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be exercised, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination, for a period of
- (j) 30 days from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter, and any Stock Option that is unvested or unexercisable at the date of termination shall thereupon terminate.
 - Involuntary Termination for Cause. If an Optionee s employment or provision of services terminates involuntarily for Cause vesting of all outstanding Stock Options held by such Optionee shall thereupon terminate and all Stock Options held by such Optionee shall thereupon terminate.

Other Termination. If an Optionee's employment or provision of services is terminated by the Optionee for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, any Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be

(l) exercised, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination, for a period of 30 days from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter, and any Stock Option that is unvested or unexercisable at the date of termination shall thereupon terminate.

Exception to Termination. If the Company or an Affiliate ceases as a result of a transfer of such Optionee from the Company to an Affiliate, or from an Affiliate to the Company, such transfer shall not be a termination of (m) employment or provision of services for purposes of this Plan, unless expressly determined otherwise by the Administrator. A termination of employment or provision of services shall occur for an Optionee who is employed

by, or provides services to, an Affiliate of the

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Company if the Affiliate shall cease to be an Affiliate and the Optionee shall not immediately thereafter be employed by, or provide services to, the Company or an Affiliate.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the exercise period (n) following a termination described in subsection (g), (h), (i), (j) or (l) above shall be tolled for any applicable window/blackout period restrictions under the Company s insider trading policy.

. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted under the Plan on a stand-alone basis only. The Administrator shall have the authority to grant Stock Appreciation Rights to any Participant. Except as otherwise provided herein, a Stock Appreciation Right shall terminate and no longer be exercisable as determined by the Administrator.

Stock Appreciation Rights shall be evidenced by stock appreciation right agreements, each in a form approved by the Administrator. The grant of a Stock Appreciation Right shall occur as of the date the Administrator determines, subject to FASB Statement 123(R) and guidance thereunder.

A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised by a Participant as determined by the Administrator in accordance with this Section 5. Upon such exercise, the Participant shall be entitled to receive an amount determined in the manner prescribed in this Section 5.

Stock Appreciation Rights shall be subject to such terms and conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and limitations as shall be determined by the Administrator, including the following:

(a) Stock Appreciation Right Term. The term of each Stock Appreciation Right shall be fixed by the Administrator at the time of grant.

Vesting. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable stock appreciation right agreement, a Participant may not exercise a Stock Appreciation Right during the period commencing on the date of the grant of such Stock Appreciation Right to him or her and ending on the day immediately preceding the first anniversary of such date. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable stock appreciation right agreement, a Participant may (i) during the period commencing on the first anniversary of the date of the grant of a Stock Appreciation Right and ending on the day immediately preceding the second anniversary of such date, exercise the Stock Appreciation Right with respect to one-fifth of the shares to which the Stock Appreciation Right applies, (ii) during the period commencing on the second anniversary of the date of such grant and ending on the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of the date of such grant, exercise the Stock Appreciation Right with respect to two-fifths of the shares to which the Stock Appreciation Right applies, (iii) during the period commencing on the third anniversary of the

- (b) date of such grant and ending on the day immediately preceding the fourth anniversary of such date, exercise the Stock Appreciation Right with respect to three-fifths of the shares to which the Stock Appreciation Right applies; (iv) during the period commencing on the fourth anniversary of the date of such grant and ending on the day immediately preceding the fifth anniversary of such date, exercise the Stock Appreciation Right with respect to four-fifths of the shares to which the Stock Appreciation Right applies; and (v) during the period commencing on the fifth anniversary of such date and ending at the time the Stock Appreciation Right expires pursuant to the terms of the Plan, exercise the Stock Appreciation Right with respect to all the shares to which the Stock Appreciation Right applies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Stock Appreciation Right shall be fully vested prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Appreciation Right, provided that Stock Appreciation Rights granted to non-employee directors of the Company may be fully vested by the second anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Appreciation Right.
- Exercisability. Notwithstanding Section 5(a), the Administrator may at any time, in whole or in part, accelerate the (c) exercisability of any Stock Appreciation Right. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Stock Appreciation Right shall be fully exercisable prior to the third anniversary of the date of

grant of such Stock Appreciation Right, provided that Stock Appreciation Rights granted to non-employee Directors of the Company may be fully exercisable prior to the second anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Appreciation Right.

Method of Exercise. Subject to the provisions of this Section 5, Stock Appreciation Rights may be exercised, in whole or in part, at such time or times during the exercisability as determined by the Administrator by giving

- whole or in part, at such time or times during the exercisability as determined by the Administrator by giving written notice of exercise to the Company specifying the number of shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is being exercised.
- Upon the exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant shall be entitled to receive an amount in shares of Stock, which in the aggregate are equal in value to the excess of the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of exercise over the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of grant, multiplied by the number of shares in respect of which the Stock Appreciation Right shall have been exercised.
- (f) A Stock Appreciation Right shall be transferable only to, and shall be exercisable only by, such persons permitted in accordance with Section 4(f).
- Termination by Death. If a Participant s employment or provision of services terminates by reason of death, any Stock Appreciation Right held by such Participant may thereafter be exercised for a period of one year from the date of such death or until the expiration of the stated exercisability period of such Stock Appreciation Right, whichever period is shorter.
 - Termination by Reason of Disability. If a Participant s employment or provision of services terminates by reason of
- (h) Disability, any Stock Appreciation Right held by such Participant may thereafter be exercised by the Participant for a period of one year from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the exercisability period of such Stock Appreciation Right, whichever period is shorter.

 Termination by Reason of Retirement. If a Participant s employment or provision of services terminates by reason
- of Retirement, any Stock Appreciation Right held by such Participant may thereafter be exercised by the Participant for a period of one year from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the exercisability period of such Stock Appreciation Right, whichever period is shorter.

 Involuntary Termination Without Cause. If a Participant s employment or provision of services terminates involuntarily without Cause, and for reasons other than death, Disability or Retirement, any Stock Appreciation
- (j) Right held by such Participant may thereafter be exercised, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination, for a period of 30 days from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the exercisability period of such Stock Appreciation Right, whichever period is shorter, and any Stock Appreciation Right that is unvested or unexercisable at the date of termination shall thereupon terminate. *Termination for Cause*. If a Participant s employment or provision of services terminates involuntarily for Cause
- (k) vesting of all outstanding Stock Appreciation Rights held by such Participant shall thereupon terminate and all Stock Appreciation Rights held by such Participant shall thereupon terminate.
 - Other Termination. If a Participant s employment or provision of services is terminated by the Participant for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, any Stock Appreciation Right held by such Participant may
- thereafter be exercised, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination, for a period of 30 days from the date of such termination of employment or provision of services or until the expiration of the exercisability period of such Stock Appreciation Right, whichever period is shorter, and any Stock Appreciation Right that is unvested or unexercisable at the date of termination shall thereupon terminate.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the exercise period (m) following a termination described in subsection (g), (h), (i), (j) or (l) above shall be tolled for any applicable window/blackout period restrictions under the Company s insider trading policy.

6. STOCK AWARDS OTHER THAN OPTIONS.

Stock Awards may be directly issued under the Plan (without any intervening options), subject to such terms, conditions, performance requirements, restrictions, forfeiture provisions, contingencies and limitations as the Administrator shall determine. Subject to the provisions of this Section 6, Stock Awards may be issued which vest in one or more installments over the Participant s period of employment and/or other service to the Company and/or upon the attainment of specified performance objectives, and/or the Company may issue Stock Awards which entitle the Participant to receive a specified number of vested shares of Stock upon the attainment of one or more performance goals and/or service requirements established by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions on any Stock Award shall not terminate with respect to all shares subject thereto prior to the third anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Award, provided that restrictions on any Stock Awards granted to non-employee directors of the Company may terminate as to all the shares subject thereto by the second anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Award.

Shares representing a Stock Award shall be evidenced in such manner as the Administrator may deem appropriate, including book-entry registration or issuance of one or more certificates (which may bear appropriate legends referring to the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to such Award). The Administrator may require that any such certificates be held in custody by the Company until any restrictions thereon shall have lapsed and that the Participant deliver a stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the Stock covered by such Award.

A Stock Award may be issued in exchange for any consideration which the Administrator may deem appropriate in each individual instance, including, without limitation:

(a) cash or cash equivalents;

(b) past services rendered to the Company or any Affiliate; or future services to be rendered to the Company or any Affiliate (*provided that*, in such case, the par value of the (c) stock subject to such Stock Award shall be paid in cash or cash equivalents, unless the Administrator provides otherwise).

A Stock Award that is subject to restrictions on transfer and/or forfeiture provisions may be referred to as an award of *Restricted Stock* or *Restricted Stock Units*. Except as provided in the applicable restricted stock agreement or restricted stock unit agreement, the restrictions on any Stock Award shall terminate as follows: (a) as to one-half of the restricted shares granted thereby, on the third anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Award; (b) as to an additional one-fourth of the restricted shares granted thereby, on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant of such Restricted Stock; and (c) as to an additional one-fourth of the restricted shares granted thereby, on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant of such Restricted Stock. A Participant, at his or her option, will be entitled to make the election permitted under section 83(b) of the Code, to include in gross income in the taxable year in which the

Restricted Stock are transferred to him or her, the fair market value of such shares at the time of transfer, notwithstanding that such shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture within the meaning of the Code, or he or she may elect to include in gross income the Fair Market Value of the Restricted Stock as of the date or date on which such restrictions lapse. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator shall adopt, from time to time, such rules with respect to the return of executed Restricted Stock Agreements as it deems appropriate and failure by a Participant to comply with such rules shall, without limitation, terminate the grant of such Restricted Stock to such Participant and/or cause the forfeiture of any Restricted Stock as to which restrictions have not yet lapsed.

PERFORMANCE AWARDS.

(a) *Performance Conditions*. The right of a Participant to exercise or receive a grant or settlement of any Award, and its timing, may be subject to performance conditions specified by the Administrator at the time of grant (except as provided in this Section 7). The Administrator may use business criteria and other measures of performance it deems appropriate in establishing any performance conditions, and may exercise its discretion to reduce or increase

amounts payable under any Award subject to performance conditions, except as limited under Sections 7(b) hereof in the case of a Performance Award intended to qualify under Section 162(m) of the Code.

Performance Awards Granted to Designated Covered Employees. If the Administrator determines that a Performance Award to be granted to a person the Administrator regards as likely to be a Covered Employee should

- (b) qualify as performance-based compensation for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code, the grant and/or settlement of such Performance Award shall be contingent upon achievement of pre-established performance goals and other terms set forth in this Section 7(b)
 - *Performance Goals Generally*. The performance goals for such Performance Awards shall consist of one or more business criteria and a targeted level or levels of performance with respect to such criteria, as specified by the Administrator consistent with this Section 7(b). Performance goals shall be objective and shall otherwise meet the
- (i) requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code, including the requirement that the level or levels of performance targeted by the Administrator result in the performance goals being substantially uncertain. The Administrator may determine that more than one performance goals must be achieved as a condition to settlement of such Performance Awards. Performance goals may differ for Performance Awards granted to any one Participant or to different Participants.
 - Business Criteria. One or more of the following business criteria for the Company, on a consolidated basis, and/or for specified Subsidiaries or business units of the Company (except with respect to the total stockholder return and earnings per share criteria), shall exclusively be used by the Administrator in establishing performance goals for such Performance Awards: (a) attainment of the Company s Key Operating Metrics, (b) attainment of the Company s Key Business Initiatives, (c) total stockholder return; (d) such total stockholder return as compared to total return (on a comparable basis) of a publicly available index; (e) net income; (f) pre-tax earnings; (g)
- (ii) EBITDA; (h) pre-tax operating earnings after interest expense and before bonuses, service fees, and extraordinary or special items; (i) operating margin; (j) earnings per share; (k) return on equity; (l) return on capital; (m) return on investment; (n) operating income, excluding the effect of charges for acquired in-process technology and before payment of executive bonuses; (o) earnings per share, excluding the effect of charges for acquired in-process technology and before payment of executive bonuses; (p) working capital; (q) net capital provided by operating activities less expenditures for property, plant and equipment; (r) total revenues; (s) free cash flow; and (t) a percentage of incremental revenue dollars converted into operating income (read through).
 - The Administrator may adjust such criteria targets to mitigate the effect of unbudgeted or unplanned events not foreseen at the time the targets were established, such as (a) asset write-downs; (b) litigation or claim judgments or settlements; (c) the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, or other laws or provisions affecting
- (iii) reported results; (d) any reorganization and restructuring programs; (e) extraordinary nonrecurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company s annual report to shareholders for the applicable year; (f) acquisitions or divestitures; and (g) foreign exchange gains and losses.
 - Performance Period: Timing For Establishing Performance Goals. Achievement of performance goals in respect
- of such Performance Awards shall be measured over such periods of at least 12 months duration as may be specified by the Administrator. Performance goals shall be established on or before the dates that are required or permitted for performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code.
 - Settlement of Performance Awards; Other Terms. Settlement of Performance Awards may be in cash or Stock, or other Awards, or other property, in the discretion of the Administrator. The Administrator may, in its discretion,
- (v) reduce the amount of a settlement otherwise to be made in connection with such Performance Awards, but may not exercise discretion to increase any such amount payable in respect of a Performance Award subject to this Section 7(b). The Administrator shall specify the circumstances in which such Performance Awards shall be

forfeited or paid in the event of a termination of employment at least six months prior to the end of a performance period or settlement of Performance Awards, and other terms relating to such Performance Awards.

CHANGE IN CONTROL PROVISIONS.

- (a) Control: Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event of a Change in Control:
 - Subject to Section 8(a)(iv) hereof, the vesting and exercisability of any Stock Options and Stock Appreciation
- (i) Rights outstanding as of the date such Change in Control is determined to have occurred and not then vested and exercisable shall become fully vested and exercisable;
- Subject to Section 8(a)(iv) hereof, any restrictions applicable to any outstanding Stock Awards shall lapse and the Stock relating to such Awards shall become free of all restrictions and fully vested and transferable;
- Subject to Section 8(a)(iv) and8(a)(v) hereof, all outstanding repurchase rights of the Company with respect to any outstanding Awards may, in the discretion of the Administrator, terminate;
- Outstanding Awards shall be subject to any agreement of merger or reorganization that effects such Change in (iv) Control, if such agreement provides for:
 - (A) The continuation of the outstanding Awards by the Company, if the Company is a surviving corporation;
 - The assumption of the outstanding Awards by the surviving corporation or its parent or subsidiary;
- (C) The substitution by the surviving corporation or its parent or subsidiary of equivalent awards for the outstanding Awards; or
 - Subject to Section 409A of the Code, settlement of each share of Stock subject to an outstanding Award for the
- (D) Change in Control Price (less, to the extent applicable, the per share exercise price), or, if the per share exercise price equals or exceeds the Change in Control Price, the outstanding Award shall terminate and be canceled; and In the absence of any agreement of merger or reorganization (if applicable) which addresses the effects of such Change in Control and subject to Section 409A of the Code, each share of Stock subject to an outstanding Award
- (v) shall be settled for the Change in Control Price (less, to the extent applicable, the per share exercise price), or, if the per share exercise price equals or exceeds the Change in Control Price, the outstanding Award shall terminate and be canceled.
 - Definition of Change in Control. (b)
- For purposes of the Plan, a Change in Control shall occur or be deemed to have occurred only if any of the (i) following events occur:
 - A change in the ownership of the Company. A change in ownership of the Company shall occur on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a Group (as defined under Section 409A of the Code), other than Mitchell Jacobson or Marjorie Gershwind or a member of the Jacobson or Gershwind families or any trust established principally for members of the Jacobson or Gershwind families or an executor, administrator or personal representative of an estate of a member of the Jacobson or Gershwind families and/or their respective
- (A) affiliates, acquires ownership of stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such person or Group, constitutes more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that, if any one person or more than one person acting as a Group, is considered to own more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of the Company, the acquisition of additional stock by the same person or persons is not considered to cause a change in the ownership of the Company.

- (B) A change in the effective control of the Company. A change in the effective control of the Company occurs on the date that:
 - any one person, or more than one person acting as a Group, other than Mitchell Jacobson or Marjorie Gershwind or a member of the Jacobson or Gershwind families or any trust established principally for members of the Jacobson or Gershwind families or an executor, administrator or personal representative
 - (I) of an estate of a member of the Jacobson or Gershwind families and/or their respective affiliates, acquires (or has acquired during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) ownership of stock of the Company possessing 50% or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; or
 - a majority of the members of the Board is replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to the date of the appointment or election;
- (II) provided, however, that, if one person, or more than one person acting as a Group, is considered to effectively control the Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same person or persons is not considered a change in the effective control of the Company.
 - A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company s assets. A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company s assets occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a Group, acquires (or has acquired during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition
- (C) by such person or persons) assets from the Company that have a total Gross Fair Market Value (as defined in Section 8(b)(ii)) equal to or more than 80% of the total Gross Fair Market Value of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that, a transfer of assets by the Company is not treated as a change in the ownership of such assets if the assets are transferred to:
- (I) a shareholder of the Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to its stock; an entity, 50% or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company;
- (III) a person, or more than one person acting as a Group, that owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total value or voting power of all the outstanding stock of the Company; or
- (IV) an entity, at least 50% of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a person described in Section 8(b)(i)(C)(III).
- (ii) For purposes of Section 8(b)(i)(C), Gross Fair Market Value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.
 - (iii) For purposes of Section 8(b), stock ownership is determined under Section 409A of the Code. *Change in Control Price*. For purposes of the Plan, *Change in Control Price* means the highest of (i) the highest reported sales price, regular way, of a share of Stock in any transaction reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape or other national securities exchange on which such shares are listed, as applicable, during the 60-day period prior to and including the date of a Change in Control, (ii) if the Change in Control is the result of a
- (c) tender or exchange offer or a Corporate Transaction, the highest price per share of Stock paid in such tender or exchange offer or Corporate Transaction, and (iii) the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock upon the Change in Control. To the extent that the consideration paid in any such transaction described above consists all or in part of securities or other non-cash consideration, the value of such securities or other non-cash consideration shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Board. The Participant shall receive

the same form of consideration as holders of common stock, subject to the same restrictions and limitations and indemnification obligations as the holders of common stock and will execute any and all documents required by the Administrator to evidence the same.

MISCELLANEOUS.

Amendment. The Board may at any time terminate, amend, alter, or discontinue the Plan, but no amendment, alteration or discontinuation shall be made which would adversely affect the rights of a Participant under an Award theretofore granted without the Participant s consent, except such an amendment (i) made to avoid an expense

(a) Charge to the Company or an Affiliate under applicable law or regulation, (ii) made to permit the Company or an Affiliate a deduction under the Code, or (iii) made to avoid the violation of Section 409A of the Code. No such amendment or alteration shall be made without the approval of a majority vote of the Company s shareholders, present in person or by proxy at any special or annual meeting of the shareholders to the extent such approval is required by law, agreement or the rules of any stock exchange or market on which the Stock is listed. The Administrator may amend the terms of any Stock Option or other Award theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively, but except as provided in Section 3 hereof no such amendment shall adversely affect the rights of a Participant without the Participant s consent.

Unfunded Status of Plan. It is intended that this Plan be an unfunded plan for incentive and deferred compensation.

(b) The Administrator may authorize the creation of trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under this Plan to deliver Stock or make payments, *provided that*, unless the Administrator otherwise determines, the existence of such trusts or other arrangements is consistent with the unfunded status of this Plan.

General Provisions.

Unless the shares to be issued in connection with an Award are registered prior to the issuance thereof under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Administrator may require each person purchasing or receiving shares

pursuant to an Award to represent to and agree with the Company in writing that such person is acquiring the shares for his or her own account as an investment without a view to or for sale in connection with, the distribution thereof. The certificates for such shares may include any legend which the Administrator deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions on transfer.

All certificates for shares of Stock or other securities delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such stock transfer orders and other restrictions as the Administrator may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Commission, any stock exchange or market on which the Stock is then listed and any applicable Federal or state securities law, and the Administrator may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company or any Affiliate from adopting other or additional compensation arrangements for its employees.

The adoption of the Plan shall not confer upon any employee, director, associate, consultant or advisor any right to continued employment, directorship or service, nor shall it interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate to terminate the employment or service of any employee, consultant or advisor at any

No later than the date as of which an amount first becomes includible in the gross income of the Participant for Federal income tax purposes with respect to any Award under the Plan, the Participant shall pay to the Company,

or make arrangements satisfactory to the Company regarding the payment of, any Federal, state, local or foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such amount. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, withholding obligations may be settled with Stock, including Stock that is part of the Award that gives rise to the withholding requirement. The obligations of

the Company under the Plan shall be conditional on such payment or arrangements, and the Company, its Subsidiaries and its Affiliates shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment otherwise due to the Participant. The Administrator may establish such procedures as it deems appropriate for the settlement of withholding obligations with Stock.

The Administrator shall establish such procedures as it deems appropriate for a Participant to designate a beneficiary to whom any amounts payable in the event of the Participant s death are to be paid. In the event of the death of a Participant, a condition of exercising any Award shall be the delivery to the Company of such tax waivers and other documents as the Administrator shall determine.

Neither any Participant nor his or her legal representatives, legatees or distributees shall be or be deemed to be the (vi)holder of any share of Stock covered hereby unless and until a certificate for such share has been issued. Upon payment of the purchase price thereof, a share shall be fully paid and non-assessable.

- The grant of an Award shall in no way affect the right of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or otherwise change its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets, or issue bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stock ahead of or affecting the Stock, or take any other corporate act or proceeding whether of a similar character or otherwise. If any payment or right accruing to a Participant under this Plan (without the application of this Section 9(c)(viii)), either alone or together with other payments or rights accruing to the Participant from the Company or an Affiliate (*Total Payments*) would constitute a parachute payment (as defined in Section 280G of the Code and regulations thereunder), such payment or right shall be reduced to the largest amount or greatest right that will result in no portion of the amount payable or right accruing under this Plan being subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code or being disallowed as a deduction under Section 280G of the Code; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to the extent provided otherwise in an Award or in the event the Participant is party to an agreement with the Company or an Affiliate that explicitly provides for an alternate
- (viii) treatment of payments or rights that would constitute parachute payments. The determination of whether any reduction in the rights or payments under this Plan is to apply shall be made by the Administrator in good faith after consultation with the Participant, and such determination shall be conclusive and binding on the Participant. The Participant shall cooperate in good faith with the Administrator in making such determination and providing the necessary information for this purpose. The foregoing provisions of this Section 9(c)(viii) shall apply with respect to any person only if, after reduction for any applicable Federal excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code and Federal income tax imposed by the Code, the Total Payments accruing to such person would be less than the amount of the Total Payments as reduced, if applicable, under the foregoing provisions of this Plan and after reduction for only Federal income taxes.
- To the extent that the Administrator determines that the restrictions imposed by the Plan preclude the achievement of the material purposes of the Awards in jurisdictions outside the United States, the Administrator in its discretion may modify those restrictions as it determines to be necessary or appropriate to conform to applicable requirements or practices of jurisdictions outside of the United States.
- The headings contained in this Plan are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Plan.
- If any provision of this Plan shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or (xi) unenforceability shall not effect any other provision hereby, and this Plan shall be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted.

This Plan shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each successor and assign of the Company. All (xii) obligations imposed upon a Participant, and all rights granted to the Company hereunder, shall be binding upon the Participant s heirs, legal representatives and successors.

This Plan and each agreement granting an Award constitute the entire agreement with respect to the subject (xiii) matter hereof and thereof, *provided that* in the event of any inconsistency between this Plan and such agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall control.

- In the event there is an effective registration statement under the Securities Act pursuant to which shares of Stock shall be offered for sale in an underwritten offering, a Participant shall not, during the period requested by the underwriters managing the registered public offering, effect any public sale or distribution of shares of Stock received, directly or indirectly, as an Award or pursuant to the exercise or settlement of an Award.

 None of the Company, an Affiliate or the Administrator shall have any duty or obligation to disclose affirmatively to a record or beneficial holder of Stock or an Award, and such holder shall have no right to be advised of, any (xv) material information regarding the Company or any Affiliate at any time prior to, upon or in connection with receipt or the exercise of an Award or the Company s purchase of Stock or an Award from such holder in
- accordance with the terms hereof.

 This Plan, and all Awards, agreements and actions hereunder, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the state of New York (other than its law respecting choice of law).

0. DEFINITIONS.

For purposes of this Plan, the following terms are defined as set forth below:

- (a) Affiliate means a corporation or other entity controlled by the Company and designated by the Administrator as such.
 - (b) Award means a Stock Appreciation Right, Stock Option or Stock Award.
 (c) Board means the Board of Directors of the Company.

Cause means (i) the commission by the Participant of any act or omission that would constitute a felony or any crime of moral turpitude under Federal law or the law of the state or foreign law in which such action occurred, (ii) dishonesty, disloyalty, fraud, embezzlement, theft, disclosure of trade secrets or confidential information or other acts or omissions that result in a breach of fiduciary or other material duty to the Company and/or a Subsidiary; or (iii) continued reporting to work or working under the influence of alcohol, an illegal drug, an intoxicant or a

- (d) controlled substance which renders Participant incapable of performing his or her material duties to the satisfaction of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant and the Company or the Affiliate have entered into an employment or services agreement which defines the term *Cause* (or a similar term), such definition shall govern for purposes of determining whether such Participant has been terminated for Cause for purposes of this Plan. The determination of Cause shall be made by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.
- (e) Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
- (f) Commission means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor agency.

 Committee means a committee of Directors appointed by the Board to administer this Plan. Insofar as the Committee is responsible for granting Awards to Participants hereunder, it shall consist solely of two or more directors, each of whom is a non-employee director within the meaning of Rule 16b-3, an outside director under Section 162(m) of the Code, an independent

director as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and independent as defined by the rules of any stock exchange or market on which the Stock is listed.

- (h) Covered Employee means a person who is a covered employee within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

 (i) Director means a member of the Company s Board.
 - *Disability* means mental or physical illness that entitles the Participant to receive benefits under the long-term disability plan of the Company or an Affiliate, or if the Participant is not covered by such a plan or the Participant is not an employee of the Company or an Affiliate, a mental or physical illness that renders a Participant totally and permanently incapable of performing the Participant s duties for the Company or an Affiliate; *provided*, *however*, that a Disability shall not qualify under this Plan if it is the result of (i) a willfully self-inflicted injury or willfully
- (j) self-induced sickness; or (ii) an injury or disease contracted, suffered or incurred while participating in a criminal offense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant and the Company or an Affiliate have entered into an employment or services agreement which defines the term *Disability* (or a similar term), such definition shall govern for purposes of determining whether such Participant suffers a Disability for purposes of this Plan. The determination of Disability shall be made by the Administrator, in its sole discretion. The determination of Disability for purposes of this Plan shall not be construed to be an admission of disability for any other purpose.
- (k) Effective Date means January 3, 2006.

 Eligible Individual means any officer, employee, associate or director of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, or any consultant or advisor providing services to the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, or employees of a corporation or other business enterprise which has been acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary, who hold options with respect to the stock of such corporation which the Company has agreed to assume.
- (m) Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
 - Fair Market Value means, as of any given date, the fair market value of the Stock as determined by the Administrator or under procedures established by the Administrator. Unless otherwise determined by the
- (n) Administrator, the Fair Market Value per share on any date shall be the closing sales price per share of the Stock on the New York Stock Exchange (or the principal stock exchange or market on which the Stock is then traded) on the business day preceding the date as of which such value is being determined or the last previous day on which a sale was reported if no sale of the Stock was reported on such date on such Exchange on such business day.
 - Family Member means any child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law of a Participant (including adoptive relationships); any person sharing the Participant s household (other than a tenant or employee); any trust in which the Participant and any of these persons have all of the beneficial interest; any foundation in which the Participant and any of these persons control the management of the assets; any
- (o)corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity in which the Participant and any of these other persons are the direct and beneficial owners of all of the equity interests (*provided* the Participant and these other persons agree in writing to remain the direct and beneficial owners of all such equity interests); and any personal representative of the Participant upon the Participant s death for purposes of administration of the Participant s estate or upon the Participant s incompetency for purposes of the protection and management of the assets of the Participant.
- (p) Incentive Stock Option means any Stock Option intended to be and designated as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
- (q) Non-Qualified Stock Option means any Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option. A-15

- (r) Optionee means a person who holds a Stock Option.
 (s) Participant means a person granted an Award.
- (t) Performance Award means a right, granted to a Participant under Section 7, to receive Awards based upon performance criteria specified by the Administrator.

Representative means (i) the person or entity acting as the executor or administrator of a Participant s estate pursuant to the last will and testament of a Participant or pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Participant had his or her primary residence at the date of the Participant s death; (ii) the person or entity acting as (u) the guardian or temporary guardian of a Participant; (iii) the person or entity which is the beneficiary of the Participant upon or following the Participant s death; or (iv) any person to whom an Option has been transferred with the permission of the Administrator or by operation of law; provided that only one of the foregoing shall be the Representative at any point in time as determined under applicable law and recognized by the Administrator.

Retirement means termination of employment or provision of services without Cause, death or Disability on or

- (v) Retirement means termination of employment or provision of services without Cause, death or Disability on or after age 65 with 5 years of service.
 - (w) Stock means the Class A common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Company.
 - (x) Stock Appreciation Right means a right granted under Section 5.
- (y) Stock Award means an Award, other than a Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right, made in Stock or denominated in shares of Stock.
 - (z) Stock Option means an option granted under Section 4.
- (aa) Subsidiary means any company during any period in which it is a subsidiary corporation (as such term is defined in Section 424(f) of the Code) with respect to the Company.

Ten Percent Holder means an individual who owns, or is deemed to own, stock possessing more than 10% of the (bb) total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or of any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company, determined pursuant to the rules applicable to Section 422(b)(6) of the Code.

In addition, certain other terms used herein have the definitions given to them in the first places in which they are used.

Annual Meeting Proxy Card

A. Proposals

Proposal No. 1: Election of Directors

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the listed nominees to serve for one-year terms:

		For Withhold				For Withhold				For	Withhold
-	Mitchell obson	o	o	02	David Sandler	o	O	03	Charles Boehlke	eo	0
04	Roger Fradin	o	0	05	Louise Goeser	o	0	06	Denis Kelly	o	O
07	Philip Peller	o	0								

Proposal No. 2: Amendment to our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the following proposal:

	For	Agains	t Abstain
To amend our 2005 Omnibus Equity Plan to increase the number of shares	0	0	0
available under the plan by 3,200,000 shares of our Class A common stock.	O	O	U
Mark this box with an X if you have made comments below.	O		

Proposal No. 3: Ratification of Ernst & Young LLP as our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Fiscal Year 2010

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the following proposal:

	For	Agains	t Abstain
To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2010.		o	0

B. Non-Voting Items

Change of Address Please print new address below.

Comments Please print your comments below.

C. Authorized Signatures Date and Sign Below This section must be completed for your vote to be counted.

NOTE: Please sign your name(s) EXACTLY as your name(s) appear(s) on this proxy. All joint holders must sign. When signing as attorney, trustee, executor, administrator, guardian or corporate officer, please provide your complete title.

Date (mm/dd/yyyy) Please print date below.

/ /

Signature 1 Please keep signature within the box.

Signature 2 Please keep signature within the box.

B. Non-Voting Items

Proxy MSC INDUSTRIAL DIRECT CO., INC.

Thursday, January 14, 2010, 9:00 am Melville Marriott Long Island 1350 Old Walt Whitman Road Melville, NY 11747

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS JANUARY 14, 2010 THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned hereby appoints each of Shelley Boxer and Steve Armstrong as the undersigned s proxy, with full power of substitution, to vote all shares of Class A common stock of MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc. (the Company) which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if personally present at the 2010 annual meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held on Thursday, January 14, 2010 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at the Melville Marriott Long Island, 1350 Old Walt Whitman Road, Melville, New York 11747, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof and, without limiting the generality of the power hereby conferred, the proxy nominees named above and each of them are specifically directed to vote as indicated on the reverse side.

The undersigned, if a participant in the MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc. 401(k) Plan, directs T. Rowe Price Trust Company, Directed Trustee, to vote all shares of Class A common stock of the Company allocated to his or her account, as indicated on the reverse side, at the 2010 annual meeting of shareholders, including any continuation of the meeting caused by any adjournments or postponements of the meeting, upon such business as may properly come before the meeting, including items specified on the reverse side.

All shares of Class A common stock registered in your name and/or held for your benefit in the plan described above are shown on this card. The shares represented hereby will be voted in accordance with the directions given by the shareholder. If a properly signed proxy is returned without choices marked, and if not otherwise directed, the shares represented by this proxy registered in your name will be voted FOR each of the directors listed in Proposal No. 1, and FOR Proposals Nos. 2 and 3. If a properly signed direction card regarding the MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc. 401(k) Plan shares is returned without choices marked, and if not otherwise directed, the shares represented by the voting direction card will *not* be voted.

In their discretion, the Proxies are authorized to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the meeting, including any continuation of the meeting caused by any adjournments or postponements of the meeting.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on November 30, 2009 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the 2010 annual meeting and at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the 2010 annual meeting. However, to assure your representation at the meeting, you are urged to complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. Any shareholder attending the meeting may vote in person even if he or she has already returned a proxy.

CONTINUED AND TO BE SIGNED ON REVERSE SIDE SEE REVERSE SIDE

2